New HAMPSHIRE

BusiNEss FINANCE AUTHORITY

September 4, 2013

Her Excellency, Governor Margaret Wood Hassan
and the Honorable Council

State House

Concord, New Hampshire 03301

Dear Governor and Councilors:
REQUESTED ACTION

Holding a public hearing and passage of a Resolution entitled: "A RESOLUTION
UNDER RSA 162-1:9 WITH RESPECT TO THE FINANCING OF EDUCATIONAL
FACILITIES BY THE BUSINESS FINANCE AUTHORITY FOR PORTSMOUTH
CHRISTIAN ACADEMY IN DOVER". (For the text of the requested resolution see Tab No. 1
below this letter of transmittal).

The Authority respectfully requests that you hold a hearing, and, if you consider such
action appropriate, make the statutory findings under RSA 162-1:9 with respect to the proposed
issuance of up to $9,440,000 Revenue Bonds (the “Bonds™) by the Authority and the loan of the
proceeds to Portsmouth Christian Academy (the “Borrower”) to refinance educational facilities,
acquire capital assets, and related expenditures in Dover, New Hampshire. The Authority
recommends your favorable action and submits in support thereof the following materials with
item numbers the same as the tab numbers for the attached documents.

1. A suggested form of resolution for adoption by the Governor and Council,

2. A letter from Hinckley, Allen & Snyder, LLP, bond counsel, explaining this
transaction;

Materials with respect to the Borrower and the facility consisting of (1) Form
BFA-1 dated July 9, 2013, submitted by the Borrower related to the financing,
and (ii) the Borrower’s financial statements for the period ending July 31, 2012,
audited by Cummings, Lamont & McNamee, P.A.;

(D)

4. The Proposed LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT;

The letter of interest from Bank of New Hampshire, as to its purchase of the
Bonds;

wh
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6. Information from the New Hampshire Employment Security, Economic and
Labor Market Information Bureau as to unemployment in the Dover area;

7. The resolution adopted by the Authority with respect to the issuance of the Bonds;
and
8. A summary of required statutory findings of the Governor and Council with

reference to the materials supporting each finding.

The Authority will be glad to furnish any additional documentation and information
which you may request.

Respectfully Submitted,

BUSINESS FINANCE AUTHORITY OF THE
STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

By \///L//

Donovan Executive Director

<
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FA HINCKLEY
ALLEN s e

August 16, 2013

Her Excellency Governor Maggie Hassan
and
The Honorable Executive Council

Dear Governor and Councilors:

{BFA-Portsmouth Christian Academy)

In this transaction the Business Finance Authority of the State of New Hampshire (the ~Authority™3 will lend up
to $9,440.000 of revenue bond proceeds (the “Bonds™) to Portsmouth Christian Academy (the "Borrower™). for
the purposc of: (i) refinancing the acquisition of a 43 acre parcel of land with a building thereon. and the
construction, renovation. remodeling and expansion of the Borrower's independent school facilities located in
Dover. including the construction of a new high school academic building and a new high school academic
support building: and (ii) financing routine capital expenditures in the Borrower’s capital budget over the next
three vears.

The Bonds will be issued and the loan will be made pursuant to a Loan and Security Agreement (the
“Agreement”). The Bonds will be privately purchased by Bank of New Hampshire (the "Bank™). The Bonds
will bear interest initially for a ten vear period at a fixed rate of 4.13%, with a second ten vear interest rate
peniod based on the 10-year Federal Home Loan Bank Boston Long-Term Classic Advance CDA (Community
Development Advance) rate plus 170 basis points.

The Authonty’s obligation to pay the Bonds is actually w be performed by the Borrower, which is
unconditionally responsible for that performance. As in all transactions under RSA 162-I, neither the
Authority™s money nor other public funds will or can be used to pay the Bonds. Provisions appropriate to
achieving this result. as required by RSA 162-1, are contained in the Agreement.

In summary. the details of this transaction are essentially the same as in many prior BFA bond issues, and there
is nothing new or unusual involved.

HINCKLEY, ALLEN & SNYDERLLP

P ALBANY » BOSTON » CONCCRD » RARTFQRD p NEW YORY » PROVIDENCE



A RESOLUTION UNDER RSA 162-1:9 WITH RESPECT TO THE FINANCING OF
EDUCATIONAL FACILITIES BY THE BUSINESS FINANCE AUTHORITY FOR
PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY IN DOVER

WHEREAS, the Governor and Council have received from the Business Finance
Authority (the "Authority") its written recommendation that the Governor and Council make
certain findings and a determination pursuant to RSA 162-1:9 with respect to the refinancing of
educational facilities and the acquisition of capital assets (the "Facilities") for Portsmouth
Christian Academy (the "Academy") in Dover, by the Authority's issue of Revenue Bonds
(Portsmouth Christian Academy Issue) Series 2013 (the "Bonds") in an amount not to exceed an
aggregate of $9,440,000 under RSA 1624 (the "Act");

WHEREAS, the Governor and Council have received all the documentation and
information with respect to the transaction which they have requested; and

WHEREAS, further action by the Authority with respect to the transaction is subject to
the passage of this resolution and cannot be taken until after its passage;

IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT;
Section 1. Findings. On the basis of the Authority's recommendation and the
documentation and information received by the Governor and Council, and after a public

hearing, the Governor and Council find:

(a) Special Findings:

(1) The Bonds will be used to: (i) current refund the outstanding New
Hampshire Health and Education Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds,
Portsmouth Christian Academy Issue, Series 2002, which were used to
acquire, renovate and expand the school campus located at 20 Seaborne
Drive, Dover, NH; (ii) finance the acquisition of certain capital assets;
and (ii1) pay certain costs associated with the issuance of the Bonds.

(2) The operation of the Facilities will create and preserve employment
opportunities directly and indirectly within the State of New Hampshire
(the "State").

(b) General Findings:

(1) The Project (described in the Authority’s recommendation) and the
proposed refinancing thereof are feasible;

(2) The Academy has the skills and financial resources necessary to operate
the Facilities successfully;



(3) The Agreement contains provisions so that under no circumstances will
the Authority be obligated directly or indirectly to pay Project costs, debt
service or expenses of operation, maintenance and upkeep of the
Facilities except from proceeds of the Bonds or from funds received
under the Agreement, exclusive of funds received thereunder by the
Authority for its own use;

4) The Agreement does not purport to create any debt of the State with
respect to the Facilities, other than a special obligation of the Authority
acting on behalf of the State under the Act; and

(5) The proposed refinancing of the Project by the Authority and the
operation and use of the Facilities will serve one or more needs and
implement one or more purposes set forth in RSA 162-1:1, will preserve
or increase the social or economic prosperity of the State and one or more
of'its political subdivisions, and will promote the general welfare of the
State's citizens.

Section 2. Ultimate Finding and Determination. The Governor and Council find that the
proposed refinancing, operation and use of the Facility will serve a public use and provide a
public benefit, and the Governor and Council determine that the Authority's refinancing of the
Project will be within the policy of, and the authority conferred by, the Act,

Section 3.Approval. The Governor and Council approve the Authority's taking such
further action under the Act with respect to the transaction as may be required.



Section 4. Effective Date. This resolution shall take effect upon its passage. Passed and
Agreed to September 4, 2013.

Governor Margaret Wood Hassan

Councilor Raymond S. Burton

Councilor Colin Van Ostern

Councilor Christopher T. Sununu

Councilor Christopher C. Pappas

Councilor Debora B. Pignatelli



APPLICATION FOR OFFICIAL INTENT

*If you have any questions about this application or the BFA’s bond proaram, pleasa call the BFA's officas at (603} 415-0190.1f you need
maere space for any quastion, please attach additional sheets.

Name of Applicant: (PO{%SV/LJWV\, ([m(l #/‘ ,Z"fad?,v{/{,(/[
Address:_ 70 Seelonrng Drive
City, State, Zip:_Don2 |, AH O3FL0

Contact Deanl's Rune Title: Hoed of Shaz Phone: (£9%3-F42 -3

Name and address of owner of proy=ct {if cifferant): MA

GIF 1ol

Name and address of lesseas of project (ifany): {\)/}4\

[ ~
Amount of band issue § __1y 200 4070
Address of project sites AU/A

Bfleﬂ,/d scribe the project:
rR-c’fMt"" Sovleg (VDZ &Vﬁu\/‘d L,fr‘\,fé)k_ JAaS "::SYC’?QIWI f}(.,i*é;;dfw‘) The 2257 Bowde wore DY

Ho buil 2 acedsiwe buill: vss Spitd qm#&« v and cehiauie loaus U ko purchse the CAimELS,
ESTIMATED COST SIZE

acCres

Land Acquisition
sq.ft.

3
Building Acquisition ¢
Building Censtruction $
Building Renovation S sq.ft.
)
S
S

Equipment Acauisition
Cost of Bend Issuzarica
Refinance Existing Debt
Other (describe}:

A . P i ~ d,r- Y i [ .
Describe the effect of the [preject on the envirenment: Neng . (e (antdn] exmoudiivieS are dsuded
r T T
oY Cpurivg, f’;\DM‘C« 1e2ds
. ) . 14 ,
When do you expect the preject to begin? N completad? N/A 7
A
How many jobs wili be created or nraserved by the faciiity? Created_&/h___ Preserved_ M/A

Desrribe the types of jobs created or preserved, their wage and salary levels and ifgpols zble, when the Jobs will be creatad:
J:‘:Df {facted nr @fggn,zﬁ Qye Nor oporu_nw: a5 -ﬂw g o ;@:LMM/,\VB
U2 cimpich

P i
fccn\;actors and subcontractors far the project: ) /H

Names 2nd Addrassss o

u\

Describe the Applicant (and if applic aD‘=th°omera~d th lessees), Include a brief hi torymth Applicant, its prmcnpcl

pro duc‘:,cnam consumers: PCA (S MNew ,——Ma{cm,_ﬂ' (amosh ren- (4 ,)vtfv’m’}?fral C_L‘(‘[cﬂo‘v\ %d«.ch:
Terghes, m 0d0S Lra- A\fa/o’» 42. Fundd 1992 . 2o1% eavoliwand ~F (021 ghydeuds.
riefly descri né the background of the A“p ic (cr*c if 1:\;3|1rabl&= the owner's and [esszes’) key management psrsonnel;
Dennin Oipvry Lol me MBA 5 TR Y] L—L;ue c%./ fr et fmnwuml)ﬁk_o . D20 géﬁirs
Cfff o /‘“//"f'j.!‘-"ADA »/HC 187 /n/vs C?:yocsa - /J'afzﬁkﬁlh’—i PS/Q&Q F@l!ﬁ af LB

ﬂADDhemaq °C]Jc|0 T:Unl:‘/‘:r"DIQ./‘:F7 3[9 tha owner? \) i3 the fessee _Df"_

7
<—L‘{‘/' Bv-: A ﬁ' [ -£; < apo et
;-‘Ee“ "G‘/I anl‘f Oé’i ar ‘n‘Ornaubr{L'o‘FxN ‘icr\g\}s L!}E,%i‘{':f E‘ ij:r\{:?? be a‘iﬁl{l‘é—?‘iﬁccnslde']nc this a P lic aueon

NIN£

:g:

o)

4//_,’_\ ~b
Tne applicant wilt promptly advise the BFA of any change in tha{eFeqo,r ifarmazticn, or of any additional information that
may becoms zvailable as pians for the project progress. -4

Date: 7/ '4/}/ 13 // : \




Portsmouth Christian Academy
Board of Directors
02-046544

Mark Gell, Board Chair
124 Heritage Drive
Raollinsford, NH 03888-3117
Term Expires: June 2012

Aprit Mason
21 Patriots Reoad
fratham, NH Q3883

Kristi Friebus-Wykle, Fin. Cmte Chair
439 Exater Road
Hampton, NE (03842

Kerry Pope, Vice Chair
3 Elizabeth Lane

Rys, NH 03870

ustin Catalano
3 Ceughlin Hill Rea

Lyman, ME 04002

I

m

Brian Barrington, Secretary
35 Neble Straet
Scmersworth, NHE 03878
Term Expires: Juns 2012

Robert LeClair
7 Roaring Rock Paint
York, ME 03809

John Carpentier
33 Durrells Wooeds Rd
Arundel, ME (4048

Waldemar Koht
29 Stowecroft Drive
Hampton, NH 03342



Captain (F) Bryant Fuller, USN
Quarters A

Portsmocuth Naval Shipyard
Porismouth, NH 03804



PORTSMOUTEH
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YEAR ENDED JULY 31,2012



PORTSMOUTE CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

[ndependent Auditors’ Repart

Statement of Firancial Position

Statement of Activities and Chaages in Nat Assets
Statement of Cash Flows

Notss to Financial Statements



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
December 11, 2012

To r_Le Board of Directors
Pertsmouth Christian Acedemy, Inc.
Dowcr New Hamgpshire

We have aucited the accompanving
Acadeny, Inc. as of IL]/ 31 701’J and ﬁje related
assets anc cask fo d 2 b2 r_:;jor_:,vgxh'\, of
ke Academy's manegem on these financial
staiements based co our audit. The p”or yeqr su-vm.rze omparative iu_sn:atzon bas beea
derived Fom the Academy's July 51, 2011 financial stz*ements znd, in our report dated November
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30, 2011, we exprassed 2z unqualified cpinion on Lhose financial statements.

by

y “vccepf.ec in the Urited

We conducted our audit it accordance with auditing standards generall
n

States of A__E"l >b3 standards

Snancial statements. An audit als

significant esL:tes made by mana

We believe that cur aud

In cur opizion, the financial staiemeris |
financizl p siffion of Portsmouth Chri

its net asse ard cash flows f or d:e
generally accepted in the United States of Ax;;;‘?.ﬁCE’..

éé“ﬁé‘%* %z st A £ g}myeﬂmf g /I

Certified Public Accountants
Porismouth, New Hampshire




PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
STATEMENT OF FINA'\ CIAL POSITION

JULY 31,2012
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR JULY 31, 2011

Iuly 31, 2011
Tempcrarily Permasently Total
Jnrestricted Restricted  Restrictad Total (Memorzndum Oniy)
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
$ 807,805 3 30,704 § 10,004 § 848,513 § 526,727
363,717 - 78,489 439,204 705,384

- - 7,820

- 43410 - 81,653

6,568 - - 3,110

Total Current Assets 1,531,323 74114 38,483 1,693,530 1.630.450

PROPERTY AND EQUIRMENT

Land and land improvemants 1.219,355 - - 1,215,359 1,218,355
Buildings 9,822,822 - - 9,822,622 9,820,024
1,062,187 - - 1,692,187 1,026,057

Athletic facili 347,539 - - 347,556 344,309
Vehicles 76,871 - - 76,871 71
Sofoware and intellectual property 73,616 - - 73,616 73,616
12632714 - - 12,632.714 12,360,938
Less Accurnulated Depreciztion (4,160,033) - - (4,160,033) (3,764,748)
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CTHER ASSETS

Deposiis with Bend Trustes 830,923 - - 850,923 830,82
Pledges receiveble, less current portion - 20,000 - 20,600 46,6¢0
Bord issuance costs,
net of emorization 847 434 - - 847,435 833,043
Total Other Assets 1,678,339 20,000 - 1,698,339 1.755,866
Total Assats $11,682363 & ©4114 § 88493 311864870 § 12,238,544
See Notzs to Financial Siaremenis

_2.



Unrestricted asirictad Restrictad Total {Memcrandum Orly)
LIABILITIES
CURRENT LIARILITIES
Accounts payable 3 8,340 - 5 - 3 33540 § 41,144
Accruad iaterast 47,935 - - 47935 47,858
Accrued payroll end relaied
expensas 77,420 - - 77,420 73,686
Current pomtion of  long-term debr 260,000 - - 282,000 254,0C0
urrent portion of capital
lease obligation 6,347 - - 6,347 -
Deferred revenue 1,560,283 - - 1,860,283 18433215
Tetal Current Liakilities 2,380,546 - - 2,360,346 2,257,323
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Bonds payable 9,515,000 - - 9515000 9,873,000
Capitzl lease obligation 11,761 - - 11,761 -
Bond premivm,
net of amortizeticn 14 809 - - 14,808 15,333
Total Long-terra Liabilitiss 9,641,570 - - 9641570 5,390,535
Total Liabilities 12002116 - - 12.002,116 12,147,838
NET ASSETS
Unresiricted (318,733 - - (319,753 (140,145}
Temporarily restricted - 94114 - 94,114 140,342
Permanenily restrictad - - 38,493 88,493 88,483
Total Net Assats (319,753 54,114 $8.493 (137,146 83,636
Total Liabilities and Net Assets $11,582.363 § 94114 & 28493 §11864970 $ 12,235,544

PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JULY 31, 2012
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR JULY 31, 2611

Temporarily Permanently

Sez Notes to Financial Statemeznts

Ly



PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2011

Temporarily  Permanently
Unrestricted Lastrictad Restricted Total

REVENUE, GAINS AND OTEER SUPPORT

Tuition and fees § 4176294 3 -3 . 34176294 % 4,187,561
Cortrbutions 283,351 7,000 - 250,361 238,385
Auxiliary programs 568,502 - - 368,502 349,515
Fundraisers 104,345 - - 104,349 102,125
Studant activities 27 958 3,713 - 51,681 44 5132
Investment incoma 3,145 - - 5,143 20,014
Gain (loss) on investments (39,138) - - (39,158} 107.482
Other income - - - - 1,039
Net assats raleesed from
resirictions £1.643 (61.543) - - -
Total Ravenve, Gains and Other Support 3183404 (46,228) - 5.137.178 5232,04¢
EXPENSES
Academic programs 3351380 - - 3,291,380 3.443.484
Auxiliery programs 434 795 - - 434,755 353,047
Fundraisers 26413 - - 35413 23,713
Studen: activities 38,008 - - 58,008 52 431
Operation and maintsmance of plact 370,359 - - 570,359 233,68+
Depreciztion and amortization 441 887 - - 441,887 460,99¢
Interest 576,603 - - 376,603 383,548
Other sxpenses 63,559 - - £3,539 50,048
Total Expesses 5.363 008 - - 5,363,008 5,459,943

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (179.604) (46,228) - (225,832)

NET ASSETS, BEGINNING OF YEAR (140.149) 140,342 83,453 §3.688

NET ASSETS, END OF YEAR $ (319,753 & 84114 5§ 33493 § (137,144)

See Nozes to Financial S:atenents



PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012
WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2011

Tuly 31,2011
{Memorandum Cnly)

CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Change {n net assets g (225832) & (247 ,8%7)
Adjustments to raconcile change 11 net asseis to net cash provided by

{used in) opernting activities:

Depreciatior znd amortization 441 887 450,580

Eond premium amortization (726} (726)

Net realized and unrzalized (gains) losses on wwvestments (58,136} (107 482}

Change in allowarnce for doubtful accounts 7,068 7,000

Changes tn operating asseis and {i

Accounts receivable (110,319) (44,021)
Other receivables - 6,385
Pladges reczivable {69.356)

4 11,538

2£332

38 579

2,334 (5.027)

117,088 (19 481)

204,717 13,720

230270 300,000

Proceeds from sales of Investreris 797,633 264 000

Purchases ¢f investments (702,06%) (284,184)

Payments under czpital lease obligation {6,012 -

Purchases of property azd equipm {32,733} (167,531
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 267,065 172,485
CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Payments of bonds pe uaale (250,000) {235,000)
Net cash provided by {used in) finencing activities {250,000) (235.000)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 231786 (+5,793]
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 1437830 1,304 443
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 5 1,679 435 3 1,437,630

Sze Noies ro Financial Statemenis



PORTSMOUTHE CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
STATEMENT OF CASHFLOWS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012

WITH COMPARATIVE TOTALS FOR THE YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2011

frt

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW DISCLOSUE
Income taxas paid (rzfunded)

Interest expense paid

¥

SCHEDULE OF NONCASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

pod

Purcheses of property and equipment
Cepital [ease cbligation

Unresiricted cash a

Temporarily restricted cash and cash equivalerts
Permanently restricted cash and cash eguivalents

Deposits with Bond Trustes

See Notes to Financial Siarements

Oy

July 31, 2011

{Memorandum Cnly)

3 - 3 -

bt 576,547 % 586,327

S (24.120) § -

24120 -

3 - § -
3 807,805
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PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2612

Note I - Nature of Organization

Portsmouth Christian Acacdemy, Inc. {the "Academy™), a n
tate of New Hampshire. The Academy operates a private

wnprofit corportion, was lncorperated on September 16, 1593
preschool, elementzry and high scheol in

Note 2 - Swmmary of Sienificant Accounting Policies

Significan: accounting policies of th

Method of ‘”-"cunt‘-"c - The

in accordance with accounting pﬁr;ciples generally accepted in [h Lm-.ed Qt‘ﬂs of America.

ment Presentation - Fimancial statemen: presentation follows the recommendation cf the Fizaacial
Standaids Board in its Statemeat of Financial Accounting Standards, Financial .)‘.‘.en'er‘fs of Not-for-F

Unresiricted net assets {nclude assets that are cot subject to donor-imposed stipulations

Temperarily rascicted net assets are subject to donor-imposed restrictions that may or will be met by actions and/or

the passaze of time. Whan a donor restrictior expires, that is, when a time restriction ends or purpese restriction is
2 1 ifled to urrestricted net assets and reporied inothe

Femaae‘vﬂw tesrictad net assets inciude accumulat dﬂnmcng which require, by deror resiriction, that the cerpus
mescsc m re r‘; etuity and only the income be ma '? vailable for program operations i1 accordance with those

cesh flows, the Academy considers all uaresiricted cash
: or less, not h Id for investment, to be

arketable szcurities with readily determinable fair values aad all invesimerts i1 debt

securiies are rapcrteb at Lhe*" air values on the statement of finarcial position. Gains and losses are included ia the
change in net assats.

...

emen axpects to collect ffrom
bﬂ'gﬂres i\g[agaﬂ'en::"’ considers accounts racejvable based on the date of unp ad
o

Accoumnits Receivable - Accounts receivable are stated at the amount mana
d to be
rrovides for probable uncollectible amounts tin:ou_f: apro

g vision for bad debt exgense and an
wance based on Its assessment of the current stams of individual accouns. Bﬂla nce
agement has used reascnable coli on effors are writi:n off through a charge to the vq’ua::;-'on

uction to accounts rsce:vable. The Academy does rot require collateral when extending credit.

Pledges Receivable - Pledges receivable represeat 2mounts unconditicnally prommised to the Academy. No ailowance for
, . ;



PORTSHMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012

Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policivs (continued)

Property and Equipment - Property and squipment is stated at cost or at fair market value if received by donaticn. The
ce and repairs that do not extend

Academy capitalizes acquisition ns 2 nd ircprovements, while expenditures for maintenanc
the useful lives of the assats are charged to operations as Incurred. Donations of property an d =qumnr=nt are reportec? as
unrestricted sugport unlass the dOuOL has restrictad the donated assat {o a specific p rpose. Assats donzted with i
restrictions regarding their use and contributicns of cash that must be used to q'rire pr operiy and i
repested as restricted support Absent donor stipulations regarding how long those donated assets must
Lhe Academy reports expirations of donor restrictions when the doreted or acquire 4 a\;ct:, ate
iostructed by the donor. The Academy reclassifies temporarily resiicted net asse b to m-ﬂstrcth ne

L
The provision for depreciation is calculatsd using

Deferred Revenus - Tuition and related fess collected during the current fisca! vear for the next school year are recorded

Contibuticens - The Acedemy recognizes a’l oriributed support re:e‘vya as laceme i th
ed depending on the existeace of deror o

ta camm

st
of the support. Reswicted centrbutions wbose restrictions are et in he same

g

s of non-cesh doaations, includi

¢nized as conmiributions in accordence with Statercent of

[

or Contrib: z._uns J‘ec:ned End Contrikuzions Made, Nog-cash goads are

imared f valued if L' services () craate or ephance
; nOn-finanei o (i o} ".‘_-d skills, are peu_yr'ned hy pe p e with those skilis, and would otherwisz be
i Di:ing the vear eeded July 31, 2012 the Academy did not rec*" azy confribuied services

Advertizine - A
2C12.

Income Texes - The Acadamy i s exempt Trom income taxas under Secuon 301(c)(3) of the Internal Revenve Cocde. The
Academy is classified as other thas a private foundation.

Effective August 1, 2008, the Acq’femy adop-‘
which pro Ld\.sam.deuo orm

would 'o: 2cetved for an asset or pa d to transfer @ hcbfh'ry( exitpri E
asset or liability in en orderly fransaction between market participanis on the measurement dare. The standard requires that

-8-



PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2612

Note 3 - Fair Valuss of Assets (continued)

valuation techniques maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The standard alse
established a fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the valuation inputs into three broad levels.
There ace three general valvation techiniques that may be used to measure fair value, as described below:
1) Market approzch - Uses prices ard other relevant imformation cenerated by market transactions invelving identiesl or
comparable assets or lisbilities. Prices may be indicated by pricing guides, sale transactions, markat trades, or other

2} Cost approach - Based on the amount that currently would be required to replace the service capecity o
{replacement cost); and

3) Income approach - Uses 'ﬂl‘ tion techniques o convert futire amounts o &
marke t expectat or_y abou

si
the fumre emounts (chludes present vajue tech:nq . aad opticn-pricing models).
approach where a siream of expected cash flows |

3 J ; , i
consisteat. The following table s { vel, within the fair value kisrarchy, the Aca
31,2012,

Significant
O?r:r Significant
QObse Unobseryakle
T—xp Inpuis
Descrintioa (Level 2) {Level 3}
Investmen:s S 441780 % - 3 -
Cash - money market fuad 302;778 - -
Deposit with Bond Trusize 839.923 - -

Total S _1,377.061 § 1577861 § - g -

Fair value for invesaments is determined by reference w0 quoted market prices and other relevant informaticn
market transactions.

Investments consist of the fallowing as of July 31, 2012:
Cast Fair Value
Cash and monsy market funds S 3,651 S 3,054
Stocks 3,848 7,782
Mutual funds 437157 431424
Tortal S 436058 3 4447250

g present amount based cn current

Net

S d.-sw unted gt an apprepriate markat




PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012

Noze 4 - Investments (continued)

Net investment income consisted of the foliowing for the year ended July 31, 2012:

[nterest and dividend income b 5,145
Rezlized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments (39.156)
Total $ (54011

Note 3 - Deposits with Bond Trusiee

rustee 25 required by the bornd

sit f’ with the beﬂd trusice uly l 2012 wa ?83 923, The n‘oney market
it Insurance Corporation or Security Investors Prote ction Corporaticn. However,
asury securities and othe: invesiments backed by the U.S. Go*.-‘emme::t and

Cul

r:ls are reported I noncurrenr assets and ares being amertized over the 30 yzar
vear erced July 31, 2012 was §41,507.

Note 7 - Long-Terny Debt

ang-terma debt consisted of the following at July 31:

Pt

New Hampshire Heelth and Education Facilities Awuthority Revenuve
Bonds, Pommoum Christian Academy Issue Series 2CO2, T]‘e ands
werz issted or December 1, 2002 in the em £

mature on July 1, 2033, Interest is payable semiannu ]Iv on Ta'm_ /1
aad July | at rates varying fom 3.65% t¢ 5.83%. The bonds are sw_DJect
to mandatery redemption pricr to maturity by application of Sinking Fund

C)
P
=]
o
[a}
=
b‘)
D—l
l
U
=)
©
D
=
[
=
.
<
I
:

requirements commencing July 1, 2004 and zanually therzafter. Sipking
Fund installments rangs from $45,000 in 2004 to $785.000 in 2033. § 6,875,000

Less Cusrent porticn

Laong-Term Debt
The Bonds arz dated December 1, 2002 and
with the New H“ wshire Healdh and Educati The bond in d nture requires the Acad
deposits o restricted a ccomts for the enocéc payment ofL d t rest and retirement of bond priocipal. Intersst or the

bends in the am oun 1t of $287,389 will be paid on January 1, 2012 and July 1, 2012, The bonds are secured by 2 mortgage on
the real estate, equipment and fixtures as well as gross raceipts oftne Acacemy.

_10-



PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012

Note 7 - Long=-Term Debt (continucd)

The premium on tha bonds received at issuance by the Aca
the 30 ¥ eart erm of the bonds using the strai ;t line m“hod. »"-"n riization for the

erest paid on the bond for the year ended July 31, 2012, net of the amortization of the bond premium, was 3576,605.

4

ollows for the years ending July 31:

w
=

Scheduled long-ierm debt maturities are a

2013 3 260,000
2014 275,000
2015 280,000
2016 300,000
2017 320,000
Thereafter 8.430.000

Note 8§ - Temporarily Restricted et Assets

Temporarily 'Pstricted net asssis comsist of furnds fom donor restricted contributions, fundraisicg activides, and piedges
T p . -

eceivable that are not yet available for use, The" funds support various curricular and co-curticular activities mcle
wdent goveriment, construction of a new deck, support for graduating classes and alumni, and the arts.
Note § - Permanentdy Restricted Net Assets
'DL’."EI&'IEFT! restricied ner assats consist of comiributions which have FC‘:‘D EJ?,HHZIHEFIE}' restricted b}’ the deror for
endowment. Intsrest earced on these amourss is urresicted. Permaenently restrictsd net assets corsist of the following as of

July 31,2012

Educate for Erernity
Financiatl Aid Fund £0.003

The Educate for Eternity fund was an extension of the criginal financial aid drive. Money received for this purpose is to be
used to create an endowment, the iccome from which can be used to provide financial aid to those in need.

ars from donors to form an endowmeant for providing financial ald to

‘1
is to be used to provide financial aid.

In August 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issusd FASB Swff Position, “Endowmeats of Net-for-
Prefit Organizations: Net Assat Classificadion of Funds Subject to an Enacted Version of the Uniform Prudent Managemen!




PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012

Note 9 - Permanently Restricted Net Assets {continued)

of Institutional Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosures for All Endowment Funds” (the "Staff Provision"). The Staff Pesition
provideb o 1d:r:c= on the net asset classificazion of donor-restricted endowment funds for a nonprofit orgamzan a that is
"bject cted version of the Uniform Prudent Manzgement of Institutional Funds Act of 2006 (UPMIFA). The Stzff
tod

so requr additional disclosures about an organization's endowment funds (both donor restricted sndowment
ated endowmett funds) whether or not the organization is subject to UPMIFA.

f
1-3,

2
O
w

™

=
.
o
&

B
[N

)

o
9

i
"1

The State of New Hampshire enacted UPMIFA effeciive July 1, 2008, the provisions of which 2pply to endowment finds
exisiing on or esiablished after that date. The Academy’s endo‘vment investing policy’s cbjective is to grow ﬁc fund over
time to support future scholarships. The fund will meat this : icwment funds in fixed income and
equily investments. The allocation of these {nvestmeats will main get of iitv and 20% fixed iacome or cash.
The investment aligcaticn is reuiewec‘. on a regular b:sis. The Academy has ne formal spending policy for endowment funds
atJuly 31, 2012, and hes not appropriated any amounis for expeadinrn

Note 10 - Flexible Benefits Plan

The Acadeoy maintaics xible benefits pian for its employees. All full-time employees ere eligible to pamticipate. There

QEEa

a fe
isno uumnmon required from the Academy to this plan cther than administrative costs.

Note 11 - Retirement Plan

CSifaciive September 1, 2042, the Academy a:‘opted a voluntary contributory 403{k) plen for its employee
who work 20 or more houss pcr we e a ! :bie to participete in toe plan immeadiate] y LIlsTo:cc.IIy

c . I 3
s 403(b) Plan and met t:Lc la: s requirements for entitlercent to share in rlle r:atchmg confm et
cns ars fuily vasted afer the completion of 3 years of service. The Scheot did not make a mawching coa
nded July 31, 2012

Note 12 - Operasing Leases

< 2l

2017.

The Academy leases certain cffice equipment under the terms of two operating leases which expire in August 2013 and April

Fumre minimum lease payeents under the terms of the above lezses are as follows for the years ending July 31

3 $ 5,016
2014 9,180
2015 9,180
2016 9,180
17

§.835

Rent expense for the year ecded July 31, 2012 was $6.279



PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

YEAR ENDED JULY 31, 2012

Note 13 - Capital Leases

Equipmen: under capital leases consist of three copiers and one scrubber with a combined capitalized value of $24,120. A
lease for a second scrubber was signed during 2012, but the asset was not placed in service unil after July 31, 2012
Accumulated depreciation in the statement of financial position included $3,993 relating to thess Ie"<°d assets DPDreciation
expense reported in the statement of activities and changes in net assets includes 3 fi i
leases. The leases include $1 purchase cptions at the end of the lease periods. Fu

31

for the years ending July 31,:

2013 § 72818

2614 7,818

3015 2,786

2016 2.785

Towl mnimum lease payments 21,214
Less amount representing interest {3.105)

Present value of minimum lzase payments 5 18163

Imputed interest paid under cepital leases wes 31,806 for the vear anding July 31,

Note 13 - Concentration of Credit Risk

Firancial instruments that cotentially s_bjecr the AxC
aﬂd investments. Cash deposits are held at two fina
Izsurance Corporation as of Fuly 31, 2012, Cash balances in ex

The Academy also bas several muvmal funds and ot-er in"es*‘“;“" thet are not imsured, imcludipg deposits held by s
designated Bond Trustes, The balznce of uninsured ﬁu. with varicus imvestment companies was 31,275,182 as of Tulv 31,
2012,

Note 14 ~ Funetional Expenses

The expenses of providin : a marized below on a func lb_s
Accordingly, certain expenses have teen allocated ameng the programs and suppor’.iﬁg services benefited. . 1 c:t*crs ma
be direct or indirect according to the type of expense incurred

For the vear ended July 31, 2012, expenses were incurred in the following functional areas:

§ 4247140
995,688
120.180

Nofe 15 -~ Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been evalusted by management through Decamber 11, 2012, which is the daf= the financial
siarements were availeble to be issuzd. There were ne material subseguent events at December 11, 2012 that recuire

disclosure in the financial statements.
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$[9,200,000]
Business Finance Authority of the State of New Hampshire
Revenue Bonds
(Portsmouth Christian Academy Issue) Series 2013

LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT dated as of September 1, 2013 (with any
supplements, modifications or amendments hereto, including all exhibits and schedules hereto,
the “Agreement”) among Bank of New Hampshire, as bond purchaser and disbursing agent (with
its successors and assigns, sometimes hereinafter referred to as the “Purchaser” or the
“Disbursing Agent.”), Business Finance Authority of the State of New Hampshire, a body politic
and corporate and a public instrumentality duly organized and validly existing under the laws of
the State of New Hampshire (the “State”), as the issuer (together with its successors and assigns,
the “Issuer”), and Portsmouth Christian Academy, a non-profit voluntary corporation organized
under the laws of the State of New Hampshire (the “Borrower”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, the Issuer is authorized by law, including New Hampshire RSA Chapter
162-1 (referred to herein as the “Act”) to enter into financing documents and security documents
with respect to indebtedness of the Issuer to be used to finance eligible projects as described in
the Act; and

WHEREAS, the Borrower is a non-profit voluntary corporation, is an organization
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code (defined below) and is authorized to lease, sublease,
purchase and hold real and personal property and to borrow money to finance or refinance the
same; and

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the purpose of the Act, the Issuer proposes to refinance the
renovation and construction of the Property (as hereinafter defined) by the Borrower pursuant to
this Agreement by selling the Bonds (as hereinafter defined) to the Purchaser and lending the
proceeds thereof to the Borrower; and

WHEREAS, the Borrower proposes to borrow the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds from
the Issuer upon the terms and conditions set forth herein to: (i) refinance the renovation and
construction of the Property by refunding the Refunded Bonds; (ii) fund certain miscellaneous
capital expenditures; and (iii) pay costs of issuance relating to the Bonds; and

WHEREAS, the Borrower shall make Debt Service Payments (as hereinafter defined) to
the Purchaser as assignee of the Issuer.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the sufficiency and receipt of
which is hereby acknowledged, and in consideration of the premises contained in this
Agreement, the Purchaser, the Issuer and the Borrower agree as follows:



ARTICLE 1
DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01. Definitions. The following terms used herein will have the meanings
indicated below unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

“Accounts Receivable” means any and all rights of the Borrower to payment for services
rendered or for goods sold or leased which is not evidenced by an instrument or chattel paper,
whether or not it has been earned by performance.

“Act” means New Hampshire RSA Chapter 162-1, as in effect from time to time, and any
successor statute.

“Additional Payments” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 4.03
hereof.

“Agreement” means this Agreement, including all exhibits and schedules hereto, as any
of the same may be supplemented or amended from time to time in accordance with the terms
hereof.

“Bonds” means the $[9,200,000] Business Finance Authority of the State of New
Hampshire Revenue Bonds (Portsmouth Christian Academy Issue), Series 2013 issued by the
Issuer and purchased by the Purchaser pursuant to this Agreement, which shall constitute
“Bonds” within the meaning of Section 162-1:2 of the Act, in the form of Exhibit C hereto, and
any bond or bonds duly issued in exchange or replacement therefor.

“Bond Counsel” means Hinckley, Allen & Snyder LLP or other nationally recognized
bond counsel selected by the Issuer and satisfactory to the Purchaser.

“Bondowners” means the registered owners of the Bonds from time to time. The initial
Bondowner is Bank of New Hampshire, as the Purchaser.

“Bond Payments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.03 of this Agreement.

“Bond Proceeds” means the total amount of money to be paid pursuant to Section 2.01
hereof by the Purchaser to the Issuer on behalf of the Borrower, in accordance with this
Agreement.

“Borrower” means Portsmouth Christian Academy.

“Borrower’s Representatives” means the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Head of
School or the Chief Financial Officer, each of whom may act singly, or an alternate or successor
appointed by the Borrower with notice to the Disbursing Agent.

“Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday or Sunday on which banks are
generally open for business in New York, New York and New Hampshire and on which the
Purchaser also is open for business.



“Closing” means the issuance of the Bonds and the purchase of the Bonds by the
Purchaser.

“Closing Date” means the date on which the Closing occurs.
“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Collateral Assignment of Leases and Rents” means the Collateral Assignment of Leases
and Rents dated as of near or even date herewith from the Borrower to the Purchaser.

“Date of Taxability” means the date upon which Interest became includable in the
Purchaser’s gross income for federal tax purposes as a result of an Event of Taxability.

“Debt Service” means the total of Interest Expense and all scheduled payments payable
with respect to Long-Term Indebtedness of the Borrower, including without limitation, Debt
Service Payments, during the measured period.

“Debt Service Coverage Ratio” shall mean for any Fiscal Year of the Borrower the ratio
established by dividing (a) Income Available for Debt Service for such period, by (b) Debt
Service for such period, as the foregoing shall appear in the annual audited financial statements
of the Borrower in accordance with Section 7.01 of this Agreement.

“Debt Service Payments” means the payments payable by the Borrower pursuant to the
provisions of this Agreement in accordance with the schedule of principal payments as
specifically set forth in Exhibit A hereto. As provided in Article II hereof, Debt Service Payments
shall be payable by the Borrower to the Purchaser, as assignee of the Issuer, in the amounts and at
the times as set forth in Article II, in the form of the Bonds and in accordance with Exhibit A
hereto.

“Default” means an event that, with giving of notice or passage of time or both, would
constitute an Event of Default (defined below) as provided in Article XIII hereof.

“Determination of Taxability” means any determination, decision or decree by the
Commissioner of Internal Revenue, or any District Director of Internal Revenue or any court of
competent jurisdiction, or an opinion of counsel qualified in such matters obtained by the
Purchaser, that an Event of Taxability shall have occurred. A Determination of Taxability also
shall be deemed to have occurred on the first to occur of the following:

(a) the date when the Borrower files any statement, supplemental statement, or other
tax schedule, return or document, which discloses that an Event of Taxability shall have
occurred; or

(b) the effective date of any federal legislation enacted after the date of this
Agreement or promulgation of any income tax regulation or ruling by the Treasury Department
or the Internal Revenue Service that causes an Event of Taxability after the date of this
Agreement.



“Environmental Compliance and Indemnity Agreement” means the Environmental
Compliance and Indemnity Agreement dated as of near or even date herewith from the Borrower
to the Purchaser.

“Event of Default” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 12.01 hereof.

“Event of Taxability” means an event upon the occurrence of which Interest is or
becomes includable in the Purchaser’s gross income for federal income tax purposes (except
where the Purchaser is a “substantial user” of the facilities refinanced with the Bond Proceeds
pursuant to the terms of the Agreement or a “related person” within the meaning of Section 147
of'the Code), as the result of any act, failure to act or use of the Bond Proceeds, a change in use
of the Property or any misrepresentation or inaccuracy in any of the representations, warranties or
covenants contained in this Agreement by the Issuer or the Borrower or the enactment of any
federal legislation after the date of this Agreement or the promulgation of any income tax
regulation or ruling by the Internal Revenue Service after the date of this Agreement.

“Expense Fund” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2.08 hereof.

“Fiscal Year” of the Borrower means the twelve months ending on July 31 in any
calendar year, or such other twelve month period as the Borrower adopts as its fiscal year in the
future.

“GAAP” shall mean generally accepted accounting principles and practices in the United
States.

“Gross Receipts” means all current and future receipts, revenues, income and other
moneys received by or on behalf of the Borrower, including, but without limiting the generality
of the foregoing, revenues derived from the ownership or operation of the Property, including
insurance and condemnation proceeds with respect to the Property or any portion thereof, and all
rights to receive the same, whether in the form of accounts, Accounts Receivable, contract rights
or other rights, and the proceeds of such rights, and whether now owned or held or hereafter
coming into existence; provided, however, that gifts, grants, bequests, donations and
contributions heretofore or hereafter made and designated or specified by the granting authority,
donor or maker thereof as being for specified purposes (other than payment of debt service on
Indebtedness of the Borrower) and the income derived therefrom to the extent required by such
designation or specification shall be excluded from Gross Receipts.

“Gross-Up Rate” means, with respect to any Interest payment (including payments made
prior to an Event of Taxability), an additional payment in an amount sufficient such that the sum
of the Interest payment plus the additional payments would, after reduction by the federal tax
(including interest and penalties) actually imposed thereon, equal the amount of the Interest

payment.

“Hedge Agreement” means an interest rate swap, cap, collar, floor, forward or other
hedging agreement, arrangement or security however denominated, expressly identified pursuant



to its terms as being entered into in connection with and in order to hedge interest rate
fluctuations on all or a portion of any Indebtedness.

“Income Available for Debt Service” means the Borrower’s net operating income, plus
depreciation, amortization, Interest Expense and taxes, as reported in the Borrower’s financial
statements, all as determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Indebtedness” means, as to any Person, all obligations, contingent and otherwise, which
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied should be
classified upon such Person's balance sheet as liabilities, but in any event including, without
limitation, liabilities secured by any mortgage, pledge, security interest, lien, charge or other
encumbrance existing on property owned or acquired by such Person whether or not the liability
secured thereby shall have been assumed, letters of credit open for account, obligations under
acceptance facilities, capitalized lease obligations and all obligations on account of guaranties,
endorsements and any other contingent obligations in respect of the Indebtedness of others
whether or not reflected on such balance sheet or in a footnote thereto.

“Initial Interest Rate” means 4.15%.

“Initial Interest Rate Period” means the period from the Closing Date through (and
including) , 2023.

“Institution Counsel” means Hinckley, Allen & Snyder LLP.

“Interest” means the portion of any payment from the Issuer to the Purchaser on the
Bonds in an amount equal to the portion of the payment from the Borrower to the Issuer
designated as the interest component as shown in Exhibit A hereto.

“Interest Expense” shall mean interest expense paid by the Borrower with respect to
Short-Term Indebtedness and Long-Term Indebtedness (including letter of credit fees, if any, and
expenses plus or minus net payments (exclusive of termination or unwind payments) on interest
rate Hedge Agreements, less interest paid through Bond Proceeds.

“Interest Rate” shall mean an interest rate established in accordance with Section 2.02 of
this Agreement. The Interest Rate on the Bonds during the initial Interest Rate Period shall be the
Initial Interest Rate.

“Interest Rate Period” shall mean each period during which an Interest Rate is in effect.
After the Initial Interest Rate Period, the Interest Rate Period shall be any period from and
including the day next succeeding the end of the prior Interest Rate Period to and including any
day not later than the maturity date of the Bonds, all in accordance with Section 2.02 of this
Agreement.

“Issuer” means the Business Finance Authority of the State of New Hampshire, acting as
the issuer under this Agreement, and its successors.



“Issuer’s Tax Certificate” means the No Arbitrage Certificate of the Issuer of even date
herewith.

“Liens” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 6.05 hereof.

“Loan” means the loan of the Bond Proceeds from the Issuer to the Borrower pursuant to
this Agreement.

“Long-Term Indebtedness” shall mean all Indebtedness, other than Short-Term
Indebtedness, for any of the following:

(1) Payments of principal and interest with respect to money borrowed for an
original term, or renewable at the option of the Borrower for a period from the date
originally incurred, of longer than one year;

(11) Payments under leases which are capitalized in accordance with GAAP
having an original term, or renewable at the option of the lessee for a period from the date
originally incurred, longer than one year; and

(i)  Payments under installment purchase contracts having an original term in
excess of one year.

“Mortgage” means the mortgage agreement dated as of even or near date herewith from
the Borrower to the Purchaser with respect to the Real Property.

“Permitted Liens” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Article III paragraph

).

“Person” means an individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, estate,
joint stock company, trust, organization, business or a government or agency or political
subdivision thereof.

“Personal Property" means all properties, assets and rights of the Borrower, wherever
located, whether now owned or hereafter acquired or arising, and all proceeds and products
thereof, including, but not limited to, the following: all goods (including inventory, equipment,
accessions to inventory and equipment, timber to be cut, and as-extracted collateral), fixtures,
instruments (including promissory notes), documents, Gross Receipts, accounts, accounts
receivable, chattel paper (whether tangible or electronic), letter of credit rights (whether or not
the letter of credit is evidenced by a writing), commercial tort claims, insurance claims and
proceeds, and all general intangibles, including, without limitation, all payment intangibles,
payment applications, trademarks, trademark applications, trade names, copyrights, copyright
applications, software, engineering drawings, service marks, customer lists, goodwill, and all
licenses, permits, agreements of any kinds and nature pursuant to which the Borrower possesses,
uses, or has authority to possess or use property (whether tangible or intangible) of others, or
others possess, use or have authority to possess or use property (whether tangible or intangible)
of the Borrower, and all recorded data of any kind or nature, regardless of the medium of
recording, including, without limitation, all software, writings, plans, specifications and



schematics; provided, however, that gifts, grants, bequests, donations and contributions
heretofore or hereafter made and designated or specified by the granting authority, donor or
maker thereof as being for specified purposes (other than payment of debt service on
Indebtedness) and the income derived therefrom to the extent required by such designation or
specification shall be excluded from Personal Property; and provided further, that Personal
Property shall not include cash, cash equivalents, investment securities or endowment funds on
hand from time to time with the Borrower.

“Principal” means the portion of any Debt Service Payment designated as and comprising
principal as set forth in Exhibit A hereto.

“Projects” means (A) the projects financed with the Refunded Bonds, namely: (1)
refinancing certain of the Borrower’s then-existing debt, then outstanding in the approximate
principal amount of $4,165,000, the proceeds of which were used to finance: (a) the purchase of
the real property located at 1 Seaborne Drive, Dover, New Hampshire consisting of 45 acres of
land and an approximately 64,000 square foot building located thereon, (b) the furnishing,
fixturing and renovation of the aforementioned 64,000 square foot building, and (c) the
construction of a gymnasium addition to the aforementioned building containing approximately
8,000 square feet; (2) financing the construction of a new high school building containing
approximately 22,000 square feet containing primarily academic classrooms (approximately
$2,000,000); (3) financing the construction of a new high school academic support building
containing approximately 20,000 square feet containing science laboratories, art and music
facilities, classrooms, a multi-purpose room and library (approximately $1,750,000); (4)
constructing a gymnasium annex containing approximately 6,000 square feet to provide
additional space for indoor athletics, physical education and assembly (approximately $500,000);
(5) financing miscellaneous renovations and capital equipment acquisitions during the three years
following issuance of the Refunded Bonds; (6) financing capitalized interest with respect to a
portion of the Refunded Bonds and a debt service reserve fund; and (7) paying certain costs of
issuing the bonds including credit enhancement with respect thereto, all of which projects are
being refinanced with the Bonds; (B) financing the costs of miscellaneous capital expenditures of
the Borrower during the three years following issuance of the Bonds; and (C) financing costs of
issuance with respect to the Bonds.

“Project Costs” means capital expenditures of the Borrower to be paid with Bond
Proceeds and the costs of issuing the Bonds which may be paid from Bond Proceeds under the
Act. Project Costs also shall be limited to costs which are permitted to be paid or reimbursed
from Bond Proceeds under the Tax Certificate.

“Project Fund” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Section 2.07 hereof.

“Property” means, collectively, the Real Property, the Personal Property and the Projects
as defined herein.

“Purchaser” means (i) Bank of New Hampshire, as purchaser and initial registered owner
of the Bonds, and (ii) any successor registered owner of the Bonds.



“Real Property” means (i) the real estate located in Dover, Strafford County, New
Hampshire, as more particularly described in the Mortgage dated as even or near date herewith,
all rights and easements appurtenant thereto, and all buildings, structures, fixtures and
improvements now or hereafter located thereon, and (ii) all proceeds of the foregoing, including
proceeds of insurance, eminent domain or sale.

“Refunded Bonds” shall mean the New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities
Authority Revenue Bonds, Portsmouth Christian Academy Issue, Series 2002.

“Short-Term Indebtedness” means all Indebtedness, other than Long-Term Indebtedness,
for any of the following:

(1) Payments of principal and interest with respect to money borrowed for an
original term, or renewable at the option of the Borrower for a period from the date
originally incurred, of one year or less;

(i)  Payments under leases which are capitalized in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles having an original term, or renewable at the option of the
lessee for a period from the date originally incurred, of one year or less; and

(ii1)  Payments under installment purchase contracts having an original term of
one year or less.

“State” means the State of New Hampshire.

“Tax Certificate” means, collectively, the Borrower’s Tax Certificate and Certificate as to
Arbitrage, both dated as of the Closing Date.

“Transaction Documents” means and refers to this Agreement, the Mortgage, the
Collateral Assignment of Leases and Rents, the Environmental Compliance and Indemnity
Agreement and the Tax Certificate.

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted and in effect in the State.

“Unassigned Rights” means the rights of the Issuer and its directors, officers, employees
and agents to payments and rights of indemnification under Sections 4.06, 7.03, 7.06(d) and
12.02; the right to give and receive notices, consents and approvals; and the right to enforce the
same.

“Unmatured Event of Default” means any occurrence, act or event that, with the giving of
notice, the passage of time, or both, would constitute and Event of Default.

Section 1.02. Rules of Construction. (a) The singular form of any word used herein,
including the terms defined in Section 1.01 hereof, shall include the plural, and vice versa. The
use herein of a word of any gender shall include correlative words of all genders.




(b) Unless otherwise specified, references to Articles, Sections and other subdivisions
of this Agreement are to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivision of this
Agreement as originally executed. The words “hereof,” “wherein,” “hereunder” and words of
similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole.

(c) The headings or titles of the several articles and sections shall be solely for
convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction or effect of the
provisions hereof.

(d) Combined Documents. This Agreement and the exhibits hereto together
constitute the financing document and the security document under the Act, and as evidence of
indebtedness, this Agreement and the exhibits hereto constitute a Bond under the Act.

ARTICLE II

ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS AND TERMS OF LOAN

Section 2.01. Bond Purchase and Issuance: Loan to the Borrower: Application of Loan
Proceeds. The Issuer hereby agrees, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to
1ssue the Bonds in the amount of $ on the Closing Date. The Purchaser hereby
agrees, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, to tender $ to the Issuer
to purchase the Bonds on the Closing Date. The Issuer hereby agrees, subject to the terms and
conditions of this Agreement, to lend the Bond Proceeds to the Borrower on the Closing Date.
The Issuer assigns and pledges to the Purchaser its rights, as set forth in Section 2.03 herein, on
the Closing Date. The Borrower hereby agrees to borrow such amount from the Issuer on the
Closing Date and to make payments to the Purchaser in accordance with the terms and conditions
of this Agreement.

The provisions of Section 2.02 of this Agreement shall govern the interest rates per
annum and payment terms of the Bonds. The Bonds shall bear interest at the Interest Rate during
each Interest Period. The Bonds shall mature, subject to prepayment as set forth in Section 2.06
of this Agreement, on September __, 2043.

Upon fulfillment of the conditions set forth in Article III hereof, the Purchaser shall
deposit the Bond Proceeds on behalf of the Issuer as follows:

(1) the amount of § shall be deposited in the Project Fund with
the Disbursing Agent and disbursed for the payment of Project Costs as provided in this
Agreement; :

(i)  anyremaining amounts shall be deposited in the Expense Fund to be held and
disbursed as provided in this Agreement.

The Borrower’s obligation to make Debt Service Payments, which the Issuer hereby is
assigning to the Purchaser, and which shall be the sole source of interest and principal payments
on the Bonds, shall commence, and Interest shall begin to accrue, on the date on which the Bonds
are issued, as set forth on the Bonds as issued.



Neither the Purchaser nor the Issuer shall have any ownership interest in the Property
after the Closing Date and by this Agreement each is merely financing and refinancing the
acquisition, construction and site development thereof by the Borrower. The Issuer has not been
in the chain of title of the Property, the Purchaser and the Issuer shall not operate, control or have
possession of the Property and the Purchaser and the Issuer have no control over the Borrower or
the Borrower’s operation, use or maintenance of the Property. The Borrower is solely responsible
for the selection of the Property, and is solely responsible for the use, maintenance and operation
of the Property. The Borrower will indemnify, defend and hold the Purchaser and the Issuer and
their respective directors, officers, employees and agents (each, an “Indemnified Person”)
harmless from and against any claims, loss or damage, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, to
which an Indemnified Person may be subjected as a result of the designation of any Indemnified
Person as the owner of the Property solely by virtue of the Loan, the Bonds or any transaction
contemplated pursuant to this Agreement. This indemnification shall survive the payment in full
of the Bonds and the Loan.

By executing this Agreement, the Borrower irrevocably covenants to pay and shall pay to
the Purchaser, as assignee of the Issuer, all Debt Service Payments, including each and every
payment due with respect to the Bonds and any other payment due from the Borrower hereunder,
other than payments due directly to the Issuer with respect to any Unassigned Rights, which the
Borrower hereby irrevocably covenants to pay and shall pay to the Issuer.

Section 2.02. Interest. (a) The principal portion of the Bonds outstanding from time to
time shall bear interest (computed on the basis of actual days elapsed in a 360 day year) at the
Interest Rate during the Interest Rate Period established by the Borrower with notice to the
Issuer. The Interest Rate for the Initial Interest Rate Period shall be the Initial Interest Rate. If the
Borrower elects to have the Bonds continue to be held by the Purchaser for the ten (10) year
period following the end of the Initial Interest Rate Period, the Interest Rate for the Bonds during
such subsequent ten (10) year Interest Rate Period shall be a rate based on the 10-year Federal
Home Loan Bank Boston Long-Term Classic Advance CDA (Community Development
Advance) rate plus 170 basis points. If the Borrower does not elect to have the Purchaser
continue to hold the Bonds for a ten (10) year period following the Initial Interest Rate Period,
the Bonds shall be remarketed at par by a remarketing agent selected by the Borrower and
reasonably acceptable to the Issuer. Such remarketing may be for any period from the end of the
Initial Interest Rate Period through the final maturity of the Bonds and may carry Interest based
on a fixed rate, a variable rate or a combination of a fixed rate and a variable rate. In addition, if
the Borrower does not elect to have the Purchaser continue to hold the Bonds for a ten (10) year
period following the Initial Interest Rate Period, then for the immediately succeeding and each
further Interest Rate Period, the Bonds may only be remarketed if the Borrower provides the
[ssuer with an opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel that Interest on the Bonds during
each such subsequent Interest Rate Period shall be excluded from gross income for federal
income tax purposes. Interest accruing on the principal balance outstanding from time to time on
the Bonds shall be payable as provided in the Bonds, as set forth on Exhibit C and upon earlier
demand in accordance with the terms hereof and the Bonds.

(b) Upon the occurrence of a Determination of Taxability, the Borrower shall, with
respect to future interest payments, begin making Debt Service Payments (and the Bond
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Payments will be made) with the interest component calculated to equal the sum of the then
applicable Interest Rate and the Gross-Up Rate. In addition, whether or not the Determination of
Taxability occurs before or after the Bonds and the Loan are paid in full, the Borrower shall,
upon demand of the Purchaser, make a payment to the Purchaser sufficient to pay the difference
between all prior Debt Service Payments and related Bond Payments at the then applicable
Interest Rate and the Gross-Up Rate from the Date of Taxability to the date of the Determination
of Taxability. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Borrower be required to pay a
Gross-Up Rate for any period of time for which the statute of limitations with respect to recovery
of taxable interest has run.

Section 2.03. Payments. The Borrower shall pay to the Purchaser principal, premium, if
any, and Interest (“Bond Payments”), on the Bonds in such amounts and on such dates as the
Borrower shall be required to pay the Debt Service Payments, as and when due under this
Agreement. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay the Debt Service Payments and shall pay to the
Purchaser, as assignee of the Issuer, the Debt Service Payments in the amounts and on the dates
set forth on Exhibit A hereto and in the Bonds or in accordance with Sections 2.02, 2.06 or 12.02
of this Agreement. As security for its obligation to pay principal, premium, if any, and any and
all interest in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Issuer assigns to and pledges to
the Purchaser all of the [ssuer’s right to receive Debt Service Payments from the Borrower
hereunder, all of the Issuer’s rights hereunder to amounts in the Expense Fund, and with the
exception of the Unassigned Rights and all of the Issuer’s right, title and interest in and to the
Property, the Issuer irrevocably constitutes and appoints the Purchaser and any present or future
officer or agent of the Purchaser as its lawful attorney, with full power of substitution and
resubstitution, and in the name of the Issuer or otherwise, to collect the Debt Service Payments
and any other payments due hereunder except payments relating to the Unassigned Rights and to
sue in any court for such Debt Service Payments or other payments due hereunder, except with
respect to payments due with respect to the Unassigned Rights, to exercise all rights hereunder
except Unassigned Rights with respect to the Property, and to withdraw or settle any claims, suits
or proceedings pertaining to or arising out of this Agreement except those relating to the
Unassigned Rights upon any terms. The Purchaser and the Borrower agree to such assignment.
The [ssuer hereby directs the Borrower, and the Borrower hereby agrees, to pay to the Purchaser,
as assignee of the Issuer, Debt Service Payments, which payments, upon receipt by the Purchaser
shall constitute Bond Payments, in the amounts and on the dates set forth in Exhibit A hereto and
on the Bonds or in accordance with Sections 2.02, 2.06 or 12.02 and other payments due
hereunder or pursuant to the Bonds, except with respect to payments relating to the Unassigned
Rights. Such payments shall be made by the Borrower directly to the Purchaser, as the Issuer’s
assignee, and all Debt Service Payments shall be credited against the Issuer’s Bond Payments and
any other payment obligations hereunder.

No provision, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement or any obligation
herein imposed on the Issuer, or the breach thereof, shall constitute or give rise to or impose upon
the Issuer any pecuniary liability or a charge upon the general credit or taxing powers of the State
or any political subdivision thereof. The Issuer has no taxing powers. In making the agreements,
provisions and covenants set forth in this Agreement, the Issuer has not obligated itself except
with respect to the Property as and to the extent provided in this Agreement, and the application

-11-



of the Debt Service Payments to be paid by the Borrower hereunder, as and to the extent
provided in this Agreement.

All amounts required to be paid hereunder shall be paid in lawful money of the United
States of America in immediately available funds. No recourse shall be had by the Purchaser or
the Borrower for any claim based on this Agreement against the Issuer, the State or any director,
officer, employee or agent of the Issuer or of the State alleging personal liability on the part of
such person, unless such claim is based on the willful dishonesty of or intentional violation of
law by such person.

Section 2.04. Payment on Non-Business Days. Whenever any payment to be made
hereunder shall be stated to be due on a day which is not a Business Day, such payment may be
made on the next succeeding Business Day, but such extension of time shall not be included in
the computation of interest or the fees hereunder, as the case may be.

Section 2.05. Debt Service Payments To Be Unconditional. The obligations of the
Borrower to make the Debt Service Payments required under this Article Il and to make other
payments hereunder and to perform and observe the covenants and agreements contained herein
shall be absolute and unconditional in all events, without abatement, diminution, deduction,
setoff or defense for any reason, including (without limitation) any accident, condemnation,
destruction or unforeseen circumstances. Notwithstanding any dispute between the Borrower
and any of the Issuer, the Purchaser or any other person, the Borrower shall make all Debt
Service Payments when due and shall not withhold any Debt Service Payments pending final
resolution of such dispute, nor shall the Borrower assert any right of set-off or counterclaim
against its obligation to make such payments required under this Agreement, each of which rights
is hereby affirmatively waived by the Borrower.

Section 2.06. Prepayments.

(a) Unless the original Purchaser or a subsequent purchaser of the Bonds continues to
hold the Bonds, the Borrower shall cause repayment of the amounts owning to the original
Purchaser or such subsequent purchaser in full immediately and without demand or notice on the
last day of each Interest Period.

(b) The Borrower shall prepay the Bonds in full immediately upon demand of the
Purchaser after the occurrence of an Event of Default, which is not cured within any applicable
grace or cure period, by paying all amounts due hereunder and under any other Transaction
Document and under any Hedge Agreement, if applicable.

(©) Upon any prepayment in part of the Bonds, the prepayment shall be applied to the
Debt Service Payments and any other amounts due hereunder.

(d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if the Borrower refinances the
Bonds with a lender other than the Purchaser during the Initial Interest Rate Period, the Bonds
shall be prepayable at the following prepayment prices expressed as percentages of the principal
amount prepaid:



[ , 2013 through [ , 2018, inclusive 103%
[ , 2019 through [ , 2023, inclusive 102

(e) Notice of Payment. Except for the mandatory prepayment set forth in Section
2.06(a), the Borrower shall give the Purchaser written notice of any prepayment in whole or in
part at least thirty (30) days before the prepayment date specifying the date and amount of
prepayment and the amount of accrued interest and premium, if any. If less than all the principal
of the Bonds are to be prepaid on any date, the installments of principal shall be prepaid in
chronological order. Upon any subsequent transfer or exchange of a Bond upon which a
prepayment is made, the Issuer will make an appropriate notation on the Bond showing the
prepaid installment or installments.

Section 2.07. Project Fund.

() Establishment and Purpose. A Project Fund is hereby established with the
Disbursing Agent for the account of the Borrower (the “Project Fund”). Immediately after the
sale of the Bonds and the deposits with the trustee for the Refunded Bonds pursuant to Section
2.01(i) hereof, S shall be deposited in the Project Fund to pay Project Costs. The
moneys in the Project Fund shall be held in trust and, except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, shall be applied by the Disbursing Agent solely to the payment or reimbursement of
Project Costs in accordance with Article IX.

(b) Disbursement Requirements. During the period commencing on the Closing Date
through September __, 2016, (the “Draw Period”), the Borrower shall requisition the proceeds of
the Loan attributable to the Project Costs to pay for capital expenditures of the Borrower. In
order to request the Issuer’s and the Purchaser’s approval of a Disbursement, the Borrower shall
submit to the Issuer and the Purchaser a requisition in the form attached hereto as Exhibit ,in
each instance signed by the Borrower’s Representative, together with a completed written
disbursement request in such form and detail as required by Issuer and the Purchaser. Each such
requisition must be submitted to the Issuer and the Purchaser at least fifteen (15) days prior to the
proposed disbursement date and shall certify in detail, acceptable to the Issuer and the Purchaser,
the cost of any labor that has been performed and any materials that relate to such capital
expenditures, and shall be accompanied by such supporting data as the Issuer and the Purchaser
may require, including, without limitation, receipts, vouchers, invoices, and such other
information and documents as may be requested by the Issuer or the Bond Purchaser.

(c) Excess in Project Fund. All moneys in the Project Fund (including moneys
eamned thereon by investment) remaining after the earlier of completion of the Projects or
September _ , 2016 shall promptly at the written direction of a Borrower’s Representative be
applied to the next Debt Service Payment.

Section 2.08. Expense Fund.

(a) Establishment and Purpose. An Expense Fund is hereby established with the
Disbursing Agent for the account of the Borrower (the “Expense Fund”). Immediately after the
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sale of the Bonds and the deposits with the trustee for the Refunded Bonds pursuant to Section
2.01(i) hereof, the remaining proceeds shall be deposited in the Expense Fund. The moneys in
the Expense Fund shall be held in trust and, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement,
shall be applied by the Disbursing Agent solely to the payment or reimbursement of costs of
1ssuance of the Bonds in accordance with Article IX; provided that if any funds remain in the
Expense Fund twelve months after the Closing Date, such funds shall be transferred to the
Project Fund.

(b) Excess in Expense Fund. All moneys in the Expense Fund (including moneys
earned thereon by investment) remaining after payment or provision for payment in full of the
costs referred to in this Section 2.07 which are then due and payable shall promptly at the written
direction of a Borrower’s Representative be applied to the next Debt Service Payment.

Section 2.08. Investment of Moneys in Fund. Pending their use under this Agreement,
moneys in the Expense Fund shall be held uninvested by the Disbursing Agent.

Section 2.09. Tax-Exempt Status of Bonds. The Borrower will perform its obligations
and agreements contained in the Tax Certificate as if they were set forth herein. The Issuer will
cooperate with the Bondowner to the extent deemed necessary or permitted by law in the opinion
of bond counsel to the Issuer in order to preserve the exclusion of interest on the Bond from
gross income for federal income tax purposes.

ARTICLE 111

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT

The Purchaser’s agreement to purchase the Bonds from the Issuer hereunder and to
disburse the Bond Proceeds as provided herein shall be subject to the condition precedent that the
Purchaser shall have received all of the following, each in form and substance satisfactory to the
Purchaser. The Issuer's agreement to accept the Bond Proceeds and to make the Loan to the
Borrower hereunder and the Purchaser's agreement to deliver the Bond Proceeds to the Borrower,
shall be subject to the condition precedent that the Purchaser and the Issuer shall have received
all of the following, each in form and substance satisfactory to the Purchaser and the Issuer:

(a) This Agreement, properly executed on behalf of the Issuer, the Borrower and the
Purchaser, and each of the Exhibits hereto properly completed.

(b) The other Transaction Documents, properly executed on behalf of the respective
parties thereto.

(©) A Bond properly issued to the Purchaser as registered owner thereof, in the
principal face amount of $ and duly executed by the Issuer, dated the Closing Date.

(d) A certificate of the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Borrower, certifying
as to (i) the resolutions of the board of directors and, if required, the members of the Borrower,
authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Tax Certificate
and any related documents, (ii) the bylaws of the Borrower, and (iii) the signatures of the officers
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or agents of the Borrower authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Tax
Certificate and other instruments, agreements and certificates on behalf of the Borrower.

(e) Currently certified copies of the Articles of Agreement of the Borrower.

) A Certificate of Good Standing issued as to the Borrower by the Secretary of the
State of the state of the Borrower's incorporation, not more than thirty (30) days prior to the date
hereof.

(g) Certificates of the insurance required hereunder, approved by the Purchaser.

(h) A completed and executed Form 8038 or evidence of filing thereof with the
Secretary of Treasury.

(1) A resolution or evidence of other official action taken by or on behalf of the Issuer
to authorize the transactions contemplated hereby.

) Financing statements naming the Borrower, as debtor, and the Purchaser, as
secured party, with respect to the Personal Property.

(k) Current searches of appropriate filing offices showing that (i) no state or federal
tax liens have been filed and remain in effect against the Borrower, (ii) no mortgage or financing
statements have been filed and remain in effect against the Borrower relating to the Property
except those mortgage or financing statements filed by the Borrower and the security interests set
forth on Exhibit B attached hereto (the “Permitted Liens”), (iii) the Borrower has duly filed all
mortgage deeds, collateral assignments of lease and rents and financing statements necessary to
pertect the security interests and mortgage liens on the Property created pursuant to this
Agreement and the Mortgage and (iv) the Borrower has duly filed all financing statements
necessary to perfect the transfer of the Issuer’s interest in this Agreement and the Debt Service
Payments.

D An opinion of Institution Counsel, addressed to the Purchaser, and the Issuer, in a
form acceptable to the Purchaser.

(m)  An opinion of Bond Counsel, addressed to the Issuer, together with a reliance
letter addressed to the Purchaser.

(n)  The Issuer’s Tax Certificate.

(0) Payment of the Purchaser's fees, commissions and expenses required by Section
13.01 hereof.

(p) Payment of the Issuer's fees, commissions and expenses required by Section 4.03
hereof.
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(@ Certifications from an appropriate officer of the Borrower that the representations
and warranties of the Borrower contained in Article V hereof are correct on and as of the Closing
Date.

() Certifications from an appropriate officer of the Borrower that no event has
occurred and is continuing, or would result from the issuance of the Bonds or making the Loan,
which constitutes a Default or an Event of Default.

1) A resolution of the Governor and Council of New Hampshire making the findings
required by the Act.

(w) An appraisal with respect to the Borrower’s property, with a loan to value ratio
acceptable to the Purchaser.

v) The Borrower shall have established and shall maintain its primary deposit
relationship and its merchant card services (if any) with the Purchaser.

(w)  An environmental site assessment with regard to the Real Property which is
acceptable to the Purchaser.

(x) Such policies and amounts of hazard insurance (specifying all-risks or extended
coverage and containing a builders' risk completed value endorsement), rental value insurance,
flood insurance (if the Property or any part thereof is in an area that has been identified as an area
having special flood hazards), liability insurance, workmen’s’ compensation insurance, and such
other insurance as the Purchaser may request.

y) A full title search on the Real Property and lender’s title insurance policy from a title
company acceptable to the Purchaser, insuring that the Borrower has good, clear and marketable
title to the Real Property and insuring the validity and first priority of the Mortgage. The lender’s
title insurance policy shall remove the mechanics’ lien exception and will be accompanied by such
endorsements and affirmation coverage as the Purchaser may require.

(2) A receipt and certificate from Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. regarding the refunding of
the Refunded Bonds.

(aa)  [A verification report with respect to the escrow to be used to refund the Refunded
Bonds].

(bb)  Any other documents or items required by the Purchaser, the Issuer or Bond
Counsel.
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ARTICLE 1V

LIMITED OBLIGATION OF THE ISSUER; RIGHTS OF THE ISSUER;
COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER

Section 4.01. Limited Obligation. Under no circumstances shall the Issuer be obligated
directly or indirectly to pay Project Costs, principal of or premium, if any, and interest on the
Bonds or the Loan, or expenses of operation, maintenance and upkeep of the Property except
from Bond Proceeds, exclusive of funds received hereunder by the Issuer for its own use. This
Agreement does not create any debt of the State with respect to the Property other than a special
obligation of the Issuer acting on behalf of the State pursuant to the Act. Nothing contained
herein shall in any way obligate the State to raise any money by taxation or use other public
funds for any purpose in relation to the Property. Neither the State nor the Issuer shall pay or
promise to pay any debt or meet any financial obligation to any Person at any time in relation to
the Property except (i) from moneys received or to be received under the provisions hereof or
derived from the exercise of the Issuer's rights hereunder, other than moneys received for its own
purposes, or (i1) as may be required by law other than the provisions of the Act. Nothing
contained in this Agreement shall be construed to require or authorize the Issuer to use or operate
the Property or to conduct any business enterprise in connection therewith. The Issuer makes no
representation or warranty that interest on the Bonds is or will continue to be excludable from
gross income for federal income tax purposes or exempt for state income tax purposes.

Section 4.02. Rights and Duties of the Issuer.

(a) Remedies of the [ssuer. Notwithstanding any contrary provision in this
Agreement, the Issuer shall have the right to take any action or make any decision with respect to
proceedings for indemnity against the liability of the Issuer and for collection or reimbursement
from sources other than moneys or property held under this Agreement or subject to the lien
hereof. The Issuer may enforce its rights under this Agreement which have not been assigned to
the Purchaser by legal proceedings for the specific performance of any obligation contained
herein or for the enforcement of any other appropriate legal or equitable remedy, and may recover
damages caused by any breach by the Borrower of its obligations to the Issuer under this
Agreement, including court costs, reasonable attorney's fees and other costs and expenses
incurred in enforcing such obligations.

(b) Limitations on Actions. The Issuer shall not be required to monitor the financial
condition of the Borrower or the physical condition of the Property and, unless otherwise
expressly provided, shall not have any responsibility with respect to notices, certificates or other
documents filed with it hereunder. The Issuer shall not be required to take notice of any breach
or default except when given notice thereof by the Borrower. The Issuer shall not be responsible
for the payment of any rebate to the United States under Code § 148(f). The Issuer shall not be
required to take any action (other than the giving of notice) unless indemnity reasonably
satisfactory to it is furnished for expenses or liability to be incurred therein. The Issuer, upon
written request of the Purchaser, and upon receipt of reasonable indemnity for expenses or
liability, shall cooperate to the extent reasonably necessary to enable the Purchaser to exercise
any power granted to the Purchaser by this Agreement. The Issuer shall be entitled to
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reimbursement pursuant to Section 4.03 to the extent that it acts without previously obtaining full
indemnity.

(©) Responsibility. The Issuer shall be entitled to the advice of counsel (who may be
counsel for any party to this Agreement) and shall be wholly protected as to any action taken or
omitted to be taken in reliance thereon or on any other document furnished to it under this
Agreement and reasonably believed by it to be genuine. The Issuer shall not be liable for any
action taken by it in good faith and reasonably believed by it to be within the discretion or power
conferred upon it, or in good faith omitted to be taken by it and reasonably believed to be beyond
such discretion or power, or taken by it pursuant to any direction or instruction by which it is
governed under this Agreement or omitted to be taken by it by reason of the lack of direction or
instruction required for such action under this Agreement, or be responsible for the consequences
of any error of judgment reasonably made by it. When any payment, consent or other action by
the Issuer is called for by this Agreement, the Issuer may defer such action pending such
investigation or inquiry or receipt of such evidence, if any, as it may require in support thereof.
A permissive right or power to act shall not be construed as a requirement to act, and no delay in
the exercise of a right or power shall affect the subsequent exercise thereof. The Issuer shall in
no event be liable for the application or misapplication of funds, or for other acts or defaults by
any person or entity except by its own directors, officers and employees. No recourse shall be
had by the Borrower or the Purchaser for any claim based on this Agreement against any director,
officer, employee or agent of the Issuer unless such claim is based upon the bad faith, fraud or
deceit of such person. No covenant, obligation or agreement of the Issuer contained in this
Agreement shall be deemed to be a covenant, obligation or agreement of any present or future
director, officer, employee or agent of the Issuer in his or her individual capacity, and no person
executing this Agreement shall be liable personally thereon or be subject to any personal liability
or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof.

Section 4.03. Costs and Expenses of the Issuer. The Borrower shall prepay or reimburse
the Issuer within thirty (30) days after notice for all expenses (including reasonable attorney's
fees) incurred by the Issuer in connection with the execution, delivery, performance and
enforcement under this Agreement and all expenses reasonably incurred or advances reasonably
made in the exercise of the Issuer's rights or its performance of its obligations hereunder
(collectively, the “Additional Payments”). Any fees, expenses, reimbursements or other charges
which the Issuer may be entitled to receive from the Borrower hereunder, if not paid within thirty
(30) days of when they are due, shall bear a late charge equal to 5% of the amount overdue, and
if not paid within sixty (60) days, shall bear interest at 12% per annum; such late charges shall be
in addition to any late charges due to the Purchaser hereunder.

Section 4.04. Matters to be Considered by the Issuer. In approving, concurring in or
consenting to action or in exercising any discretion or in making any determination under this
Agreement, the Issuer may consider the interests of the public, which shall include the
anticipated effect of any transaction on tax revenues and employment, as well as the interests of
the other parties hereto; provided, however, nothing herein shall be construed as conferring on
any person other than the other parties hereto any right to notice, hearing or participation in the
[ssuer's consideration, and nothing in this section shall be construed as conferring on any of them
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any rights additional to those conferred elsewhere herein. Subject to the foregoing, the Issuer
will not unreasonably withhold any approval or consent to be given by it hereunder.

Section 4.05. Actions by the Issuer. Any action which may be taken by the Issuer
hereunder shall be deemed sufficiently taken if taken on its behalf by its Chairman, its Vice
Chairman or its Executive Director or by any other director, officer or agent whom it may
designate from time to time.

Section 4.06. Indemnification by the Borrower. The Borrower, regardless of any
agreement to maintain insurance, shall indemnify and save harmless, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, the Issuer and its directors, officers, employees and agents from and against (a)
any and all claims by or on behalf of any person arising out of (1) any condition of the Property,
or (2) the acquisition, or operation of the Property or any work or anything whatsoever done or
omitted to be done on or about the Property, or (3) any accident, injury or damage whatsoever to
any person occurring on or about the Property, or (4) any breach or default by the Borrower of or
in any of its obligations hereunder, or (5) any act or omission of the Borrower or any of its
agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, or (6) the offering, issuance, sale or any
resale of this Agreement or the Loan, but only to the extent permitted by law, and (b) any and all
costs, counsel fees, expenses or liabilities reasonably incurred in connection with any such claim
or any action or proceeding brought thereon. In case any action or proceeding is brought against
the Issuer or any such director, officer, employee or agent by reason of any such claim, the
Borrower upon notice from the affected party shall resist or defend such action or proceeding.
Subject to the foregoing, the Issuer shall cooperate and join with the Borrower, at the expense of
the Borrower, as may be required in connection with any action or defense by the Borrower.

Section 4.07. Covenants of the Issuer.

The Issuer covenants for the benefit of the Purchaser, as follows:

(a) The Issuer will not pledge, mortgage or assign this Agreement (except for the
pledge, mortgage or assignment of rights or privileges not assigned to the Purchaser) or its duties
and obligations hereunder to any person, firm or corporation, except as provided under the terms
hereof.

(b) The Issuer will submit or cause to be submitted to the IRS an IRS Form 8038
Information Return for Tax-Exempt Private Activity Bond Issues (or other information reporting
statement) at the time and in the form required by the Code.
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ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS OF
THE BORROWER

The Borrower represents, warrants and covenants for the benefit of the Purchaser and the
Issuer, as follows:

(a) The Borrower is a nonprofit voluntary corporation duly organized, validly existing
and in good standing under the laws of the State, has power to enter into this Agreement and by
proper corporate action has duly authorized the execution and delivery of the Transaction
Documents. The Borrower is in good standing and is duly licensed or qualified to transact
business in the State and in all jurisdictions where the character of the property owned or leased
or the nature of the business transacted by it makes such licensing or qualification necessary.

(b) The Borrower has been fully authorized to execute and deliver the Transaction
Documents, and the Tax Certificate under the terms and provisions of the resolution of its board
of directors, or by other appropriate official approval, and further represents, covenants and
warrants that all requirements have been met, and procedures have occurred in order to ensure
the enforceability of the Transaction Documents and the Transaction Documents have been duly
authorized, executed and delivered.

(c) The officer of the Borrower executing the Transaction Documents and any related
documents has been duly authorized to execute and deliver the Transaction Documents and such
related documents under the terms and provisions of a resolution of the Borrower's board of
directors.

(d) The Transaction Documents constitute valid and legally binding obligations of the
Borrower, enforceable against the Borrower in accordance with their respective terms, except to
the extent limited by bankruptcy, reorganization or other laws of general application relating to,
or affecting the enforcement of creditors rights.

(e) The execution and delivery of the Transaction Documents, the consummation of
the transactions contemplated hereby and the fulfillment of the terms and conditions hereof do
not and will not violate any law, rule, regulation or order, conflict with or result in a breach of
any of the terms or conditions of the articles of agreement or bylaws of the Borrower or of any
corporate restriction or of any agreement or instrument to which the Borrower is now a party and
do not and will not constitute a default under any of the foregoing or result in the creation or
imposition of any liens, charges or encumbrances of any nature upon any of the property or assets
of the Borrower contrary to the terms of any instrument or agreement.

® The authorization, execution, delivery and performance of the Transaction
Documents by the Borrower does not require submission to, approval of, or other action by any
governmental authority or agency, which action with respect to the Transaction Documents has
not been taken and which is final and non-appealable.
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(g) There is no action, suit, proceeding, claim, inquiry or investigation, at law or in
equity, before or by any court, regulatory agency, public board or body pending or, to the best of
the Borrower’s knowledge, threatened against or affecting the Borrower, challenging the
Borrower’s authority to enter into, execute and deliver the Transaction Documents or any other
action wherein an unfavorable ruling or finding would adversely affect the enforceability of any
of the Transaction Documents or the exclusion of the Interest from gross income for federal tax
purposes under the Code, or would materially and adversely affect any of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement.

(h) The Property is properly zoned for its current and anticipated use and the use of
the Property will not violate any applicable zoning, land use, environmental or similar law or
restriction. The Borrower has all material licenses and permits to use the Property. The Borrower
has obtained all permits, licenses and other authorizations which are required under federal, state
and local laws relating to emissions, discharges, releases of pollutants, contaminants, hazardous
or toxic materials, or wastes into ambient air, surface water, ground water or land, or otherwise
relating to the manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, disposal, transport
or handling of pollutants, contaminants or hazardous or toxic materials or wastes
(“Environmental Laws”) at the Borrower’s facilities or in connection with the operation of its
facilities. Except as previously disclosed to the Purchaser in writing, the Borrower and all
activities of the Borrower at its facilities comply in all material respects with all Environmental
Laws and with all terms and conditions of any required material permits, licenses and
authorizations applicable to the Borrower with respect thereto. Except as previously disclosed to
the Purchaser in writing, the Borrower is also in compliance with all limitations, restrictions,
conditions, standards, prohibitions, requirements, obligations, schedules and timetables contained
in Environmental Laws or contained in any plan, order, decree, judgment or notice of which the
Borrower is aware. Except as previously disclosed to the Purchaser in writing, the Borrower 1s
not aware of, nor has the Borrower received notice of, any events, conditions, circumstances,
activities, practices, incidents, actions or plans which may interfere with or prevent continued
compliance with, or which may give rise to any liability under, any Environmental Laws.

1) To the Borrower’s knowledge, the Property is of the type authorized and
permitted to be financed under the Act.

() The Borrower intends to use the Property, or cause the Property to be used, as a
“project,” within the meaning of the Act, until the date on which the Bonds have been paid in full
and are no longer outstanding and all of the Debt Service Payments have been fully paid.

(k) The Borrower has paid or caused to be paid to the proper authorities when due all
federal, state and local taxes required to be withheld by it. The Borrower has filed all federal,
state and local taxes returns which are required to be filed, and the Borrower has paid or caused
to be paid to the respective taxing authorities all taxes as shown on said returns or on any
assessment received by it to the extent such taxes have become due.

) The Borrower has or will have good and absolute title to the Property and all
proceeds thereof, free and clear of all mortgages, security interest, liens and encumbrances excep



for the mortgage lien and security interest created pursuant to this Agreement, the Mortgage and
the Permitted Liens.

(m)  All financial and other information provided to the Purchaser by or on behalf of
the Borrower in connection with the Borrower’s request for the Loan contemplated hereby is true
and correct in all material respects and, as to projections, valuations or pro forma financial
statements, present a good faith opinion as to such projections, valuations and pro forma
condition and results.

(n) The Borrower has provided to the Purchaser financing statements in the
appropriate form for due filing as a financing statement with the office of the New Hampshire
Secretary of State, (the “Filing Office™) pursuant to the New Hampshire Uniform Commercial
Code. The filing of the Financing Statement in the office of the Filing Office will perfect a
security interest in the Personal Property with respect to those items of personal property in
which a security interest may be perfected by filing in the Filing Office. When such financing
statements are filed in the offices noted therein and to the extent the Borrower has rights in the
Personal Property, the Purchaser, as assignee of the Issuer, will have a valid and perfected
security interest in the Personal Property and, pursuant to the Mortgage, a mortgage lien in the
Real Property, subject to no other mortgage, security interest, assignment, lien or encumbrance
(other than Permitted Liens).

(0) The representations contained in the Tax Certificate are true and correct as of the
date hereof. The Borrower will comply fully at all times with the Tax Certificate, and the
Borrower will not take any action, or omit to take any action, which, if taken or omitted,
respectively, would violate the Borrower’s obligations under the Tax Certificate.

(p) No part of the Bond Proceeds will be used to refinance inventory or rolling stock
or will be used for working capital.

(q) To the best knowledge of the Borrower, the Projects are of the character subject to
the allowance for depreciation under Section 167 of the Code; the Borrower has verified the
representation contained in this subsection (q) with a duly qualified, independent, certified public
accountant and, based on that consultation and on other facts known to the Borrower, the
Borrower has no reason to believe that the Property is not property of the character subject to the
allowance for depreciation under Section 167 of the Code.

(r) No person other than the Borrower is in occupancy or possession of any portion of
the Real Property except as set forth in the Permitted Liens.

(s) All approvals of and authorization or other action by any federal or state
governmental authority that, to the best knowledge of the Borrower, are required to be obtained
by the Borrower in connection with the execution, delivery or performance of this Agreement
and the transactions contemplated hereby, have been obtained.



ARTICLE VI

TITLE TO PROPERTY; MORTGAGE AND SECURITY INTEREST

Section 6.01. Title to the Property. The Borrower has legal title to the Property. The
Borrower will at all times protect and defend, at its own cost and expense, its title from and
against all claims, liens and legal processes of creditors of the Borrower, and will keep the
Property free and clear of all such claims, liens and processes except for Permitted Liens.

Section 6.02. Security Interest in Personal Property. This Agreement is intended to
constitute a security agreement within the meaning of the UCC. As security for the Borrower’s
payment to the Purchaser, as assignee of the Issuer, of Debt Service Payments and all other
amounts payable to the Purchaser hereunder or under any other document or agreement related to
the Loan or the Bonds or any Hedge Agreement, the Borrower hereby grants to the Purchaser, a
security interest and lien on all its Gross Receipts and Personal Property. The security interest in
the Gross Receipts and Personal Property, including all repairs, replacements, substitutions and
modifications thereto or thereof and all proceeds of the foregoing, constitutes the only lien on the
Gross Receipts and Personal Property, with the exception of Permitted Liens. The Issuer and the
Borrower agree to execute such additional documents, including financing statements,
assignments, affidavits, notices and similar instruments, in form satisfactory to the Purchaser,
and take such other actions that the Purchaser deems necessary or appropriate to establish,
maintain and terminate, as the case may be, the security interests created by this Section.

Section 6.03 Further Assurance. The Issuer and the Borrower agree to execute such
additional documents, including financing statements, assignments, affidavits, notices and
similar instruments, in form satisfactory to the Purchaser, and take such other actions that the
Purchaser deems necessary or appropriate to establish, maintain and terminate, as the case may
be, the security interests created by Section 6.02.

Section 6.04. Change in Name, Corporate Structure or State of Organization of the
Borrower: Change in Location of the Borrower’s Principal Place of Business. The Borrower’s
chief executive office is located at the address set forth herein, and all of the Borrower’s [current]
records relating to its business are kept at such location. The Borrower hereby agrees to provide
written notice to the Purchaser and the Issuer of any change or proposed change 1in its name,
corporate structure, state of organization, place of business or chief executive office or change or
proposed change in the location of the Personal Property. Such notice shall be provided in
writing thirty (30) days in advance of the date that such change or proposed change is planned to
take effect. The Borrower currently does business, and has done business, under the name(s) of
Portsmouth Christian Academy.

Section 6.05. Liens and Encumbrances to Title. The Borrower shall not directly or
indirectly, create, incur, assume or suffer to exist any mortgage, pledge, lien, charge,
encumbrance or claim on or with respect to the Property (together, “Liens”) other than the
respective rights of the Purchaser and the Issuer as herein provided and Permitted Liens. The
Borrower shall promptly, at its own expense, take such action as may be necessary duly to
discharge or remove any such Lien except for Permitted Liens.




Section 6.06. Personal Property. The parties hereby agree that the Personal Property is,
and during the period this Agreement is in force will remain, personal property and, when
subjected to use by the Borrower hereunder, will not be or become fixtures; provided, however,
that if contrary to the parties' intent any part of the Personal Property is or may be deemed to be ¢
fixture, the Borrower shall cause filings to be made with the applicable government officials or
filing offices to create and preserve for the Purchaser as assignee of the Issuer a perfected
security interest in such Personal Property, subject to Permitted Liens.

Section 6.07. Agreement as Financing Statement. To the extent permitted by applicable
law, a carbon, photographic or other reproduction of this Agreement or of any financing
statements authorized by the Borrower is sufficient as a financing statement in any state to
perfect the security interests granted in this Agreement to the extent that the Borrower has rights
in the Property.

ARTICLE VII

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS OF THE BORROWER

So long as the Loan and the Bonds shall remain unpaid, the Borrower will comply with
the following requirements, unless the Purchaser shall otherwise consent in writing:

Section 7.01. Reporting Requirements. The Borrower will deliver, or cause to be
delivered, to the Purchaser each of the following, which shall be in form and detail acceptable to
the Purchaser:

(a) as soon as available, and in any event within one hundred twenty (120) days after
the end of the fiscal year of the Borrower, audited financial statements of the Borrower prepared
by independent certified public accountants selected by the Borrower and acceptable to the
Purchaser, which annual financial statements shall include the balance sheet of the Borrower as
at the end of such fiscal year and the related statements of income, net assets and cash flows of
the Borrower for the fiscal year then ended, all in reasonable detail and prepared in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles together with (i) a report of such accountants
stating that in making the investigations necessary for their audit report they obtained no
knowledge, except as specifically stated, of any Default or Event of Default hereunder and (ii) a
certificate of the chief financial officer of the Borrower stating that such financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that, to the
best of such officer's knowledge, there has not occurred any Default or Event of Default
hereunder; or if such a Default or Event of Default has occurred, stating in reasonable detail the
facts with respect thereto;

(b) as soon as available, and in any event within one hundred twenty (120) days after
the end of the fiscal year of the Borrower , a copy of the Borrower’s signed federal income tax
return as filed with the Internal Revenue Service and prepared by the Borrower’s independent
certified public accountants;



) as soon as available, and in any event within one hundred twenty (120) days after
the end of the fiscal year of the Borrower, (i) a schedule of student enrollment compared to the
prior two school years and segmented by Preschool, grades Kindergarten through grade § and
grades 9 through 12 with related income and expense reporting per student and (ii) results of
fundraising activities compared to the prior two fiscal years of the Borrower;

(d) as promptly as practicable (but in any event not later than ten (10) Business Days)
after an officer of the Borrower obtains knowledge of the occurrence of any event that constitutes
a Default or an Event of Default hereunder, notice of such occurrence, together with a detailed
statement by a responsible officer of the Borrower of the steps being taken by the Borrower to
cure the effect of such Default or Event of Default;

(e) promptly upon knowledge thereof, notice of any material loss or destruction of or
damage to the Property or of any material adverse change in the Property;

() promptly after the amending thereof, copies of any and all material amendments
to 1ts certificate of incorporation, articles of association or bylaws; and

() promptly upon knowledge thereof, notice of any material violation by the
Borrower of any law, rule or regulation.

(h) such other financial or statistical information or reports as the Purchaser may
reasonably request.

Section 7.02. Books and Records: Inspection and Examination. The Borrower will keep
accurate books of record and account for itself pertaining to the Property and pertaining to the
Borrower’s business and financial condition and such other matters as the Purchaser may from
time to time request in which true and complete entries will be made in accordance with GAAP
and, upon request of the Purchaser, will permit any officer, employee, attorney or accountant for
the Purchaser to audit, review, make extracts from, or copy any and all corporate and financial
books, records and properties of the Borrower at all times during ordinary business hours and
following reasonable notice to the Borrower, and to discuss the affairs of the Borrower with any
of its directors, officers, employees or agents. The Borrower will permit the Purchaser, or its
employees, accountants, attorneys or agents, to examine and copy any or all of its records and to
examine and inspect the Property at any time during the Borrower’s business hours, following
reasonable notice to the Borrower. Nothing in this section shall violate student or educational
confidentiality laws and regulations.

Section 7.03. Compliance with Laws: Environmental Indemnity. The Borrower will (a)
comply with the requirements of applicable laws and regulations, the non-compliance with which
would materially and adversely affect its business or its financial condition, (b) comply with all
applicable environmental, hazardous waste or substance, toxic substance and underground
storage laws and regulations and obtain any permits, licenses or similar approvals required by
any such laws or regulations, and (c) use the Property, and will require that others use the
Property, only for lawful purposes, without violation of any federal, state or local law, statute or
ordinance. The Borrower shall secure all permits and licenses, if any, necessary for the use and




operation of the Property. The Borrower shall comply in all material respects (including, without
limitation, with respect to the use, maintenance and operation of the Property) with all laws of
the jurisdictions in which its operations involving any component of the Property may extend and
of any legislative, executive, administrative or judicial body exercising any power or jurisdiction
over the items of the Property or its interest or rights under this Agreement. The Borrower will
indemnify, defend and hold the Purchaser and the Issuer harmless from and against any claims,
loss or damage to which the Purchaser or the Issuer may be subjected as a result of any past,
present or future existence, use, handling, storage, transportation or disposal of any hazardous
waste or substance or toxic substance by the Borrower on property owned, leased or controlled
by the Borrower. This indemnification shall survive the termination of this Agreement and
payment of the Indebtedness hereunder.

Section 7.04. Payment of Taxes and Other Claims. The Borrower will pay or discharge,
when due, (a) all taxes, assessments and governmental charges levied or imposed upon its
income or profits, upon any properties belonging to it (including, without limitation, the
Property) or upon or against the creation, perfection or continuance of the security interest
created pursuant to this Agreement, prior to the date on which penalties attach thereto, (b) all
federal, state and local taxes required to be withheld by it, and (c) all lawful claims for labor,
materials and supplies which, if unpaid, might by law become a Lien or charge upon any
properties of the Borrower; provided, that the Borrower shall not be required to pay any such tax,
assessment, charge or claim whose amount, applicability or validity is being contested in good
faith by appropriate proceedings; provided further, sufficient funds are reserved by the Borrower
or escrowed with the Purchaser to pay such obligations if the Borrower’s contest is unsuccessful.
The Borrower will pay, as the same respectively come due, all taxes and governmental charges of
any kind whatsoever that may at any time be lawfully assessed or levied against or with respect to
the Property, as well as all gas, water, steam, electricity, heat, power, telephone, utility and other
charges incurred in the operation, maintenance, use, occupancy and upkeep of the Property;
provided, that the Borrower shall not be required to pay any such tax, assessment or charge
whose amount; provided further, sufficient funds are reserved by the Borrower or escrowed with
the Purchaser to pay such obligations if the Borrower’s contest is unsuccessful, while
applicability or validity is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower shall be required to pay the tax, assessment or
charge (even if it is being contested in good faith) if the applicable taxing authority exercises any
right to seize or otherwise encumber the Property.

Section 7.05. Maintenance of Property. (a) The Borrower shall, at its own expense,
maintain, preserve and keep the Property in good repair, working order and condition, and shall
from time to time make all repairs and replacements necessary to keep the Property in such
condition, and in compliance with state and federal laws, ordinary wear and tear excepted. In the
event that any parts or accessories forming part of any item or items of Personal Property become
worn out, lost, destroyed, damaged beyond repair or otherwise rendered unfit for use, the
Borrower, at its own expense and expeditiously, will replace or cause the replacement of such
parts or accessories by replacement parts or accessories free and clear of all liens and
encumbrances and with a value and utility at least equal to that of the parts or accessories being
replaced (assuming that such replaced parts and accessories were otherwise in good working
order and repair). All such replacement parts and accessories shall be deemed to be incorporated




immediately into and to constitute an integral portion of the Personal Property and, as such, shall
be subject to the terms of this Agreement. Neither the Purchaser nor the Issuer shall have any
responsibility in any of these matters, or for the making of improvements or additions to the
Property.

(b) The Borrower will defend the Property against all claims or demands of all
Persons (other than the Purchaser) claiming the Property or any interest therein.

(c) The Borrower will keep the Property free and clear of all mortgage, security
interests, liens and encumbrances except the security interest created pursuant to this Agreement
and the Permitted Liens.

Section 7.06. Insurance. (a) The Borrower shall, at its own expense, procure and
maintain continuously in effect: (i) commercial general liability insurance for personal injuries,
death or damage to or loss of property arising out of or in any way relating to the Property, with a
coverage limit of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence, (ii) insurance against such hazards as
the Purchaser may reasonably require, including, but not limited to, all-risk casualty and property
insurance, in an amount equal to the full replacement cost of the Property; and (iii) an umbrella
policy in the amount of $[5,000,000].

(b) If required by State law, the Borrower shall carry workers compensation insurance
covering all of its employees on, in, near or about the Property, and upon request, shall furnish to
the Purchaser certificates evidencing such coverage.

(c) All insurance policies required by this Article shall be taken out and maintained
with responsible and reputable insurance companies authorized to transact business in the State,
and shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not cancel or revise coverage thereunder
without giving written notice to the insured parties at least thirty (30) days before the cancellation
or revision becomes effective. All insurance policies required by this Article shall not be subject
to any co-insurance clause. Each insurance policy required by this Article shall name the
Purchaser as lenders loss payee with respect to any policy related to Personal Property and as
mortgagee, its successor and/or assigns, as their interest may appear with respect to Real
Property. All such insurance policies will provide for twenty (20) days advance notice of
cancellation, non-removal or any material change. Prior to the execution and delivery of this
Agreement, the Borrower shall provide the Purchaser with evidence of such insurance and, prior
to the expiration thereof, shall provide the Purchaser evidence of all renewals or replacements
thereof.

(d) As among the Purchaser, the Borrower and the Issuer, the Borrower assumes all
risks and liabilities from any cause whatsoever, whether or not covered by insurance, for loss or
damage to any of the Property and for injury to or death of any person or damage to any property,
whether such injury or death be with respect to agents or employees of the Borrower or of third
parties, and whether such property damage be to the Borrower's property or the property of
others. Whether or not covered by insurance, the Borrower hereby assumes responsibility for and
agrees to reimburse the Purchaser and the Issuer for and will indemnify, defend and hold the
Purchaser and the Issuer harmless from and against all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages,
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penalties, claims, actions, costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) of whatsoever
kind and nature, imposed on, incurred by or asserted against the Purchaser or the Issuer that in
any way relate to or arise out of this Agreement, the transactions contemplated hereby and the
Property, including but not limited to, (i) the selection, manufacture, purchase, acceptance or
rejection of the Property or the ownership of the Property, (ii) the delivery, lease, possession,
maintenance, use, condition, return or operation of the Property, (iii) the condition of the
Property sold or otherwise disposed of after possession by the Borrower, (iv) any patent or
copyright infringement, (v) the conduct of the Borrower, its officers, employees and agents, (vi) a
breach of the Borrower of any of its covenants or obligations hereunder, and (vii) any claim, loss,
cost or expense involving alleged damage to the environment relating to the Property, including,
but not limited to, investigation, removal, cleanup and remediation costs. All amounts payable
by the Borrower pursuant to the immediately preceding sentence shall be paid immediately upon
demand of the Issuer or the Purchaser, as the case may be. This provision shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

Section 7.07. Preservation of Corporate Existence and Tax Exempt Status. The
Borrower will preserve and maintain its corporate existence and all of its rights, privileges and
franchises necessary or desirable in the normal conduct of its business; shall maintain its status as
an organization exempt from taxation and described in Code Section 501(c)(3); and shall conduct
its business in an orderly, efficient and regular manner.

Section 7.08. Debt Service Coverage Ratio. The Borrower shall maintain a minimum
Debt Service Coverage Ratio of 1.00 to 1.00. This ratio will be tested annually, commencing
with receipt of the July 31, 2014 financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 7.01(b) of
this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII

NEGATIVE COVENANTS OF THE BORROWER

The Borrower hereby covenants and agrees that from the date hereof until satisfaction in
full of the Loan and the Bonds, it will not do any one or more of the following without first
obtaining the written consent of the Purchaser:

Section 8.01. Liens and Additional Indebtedness.

(a) The Borrower will not create, incur or suffer to exist any mortgage, deed of trust,
pledge, lien, security interest, assignment or transfer upon or of any of the Property, except for (i)
the mortgage and security interests created pursuant to this Agreement and the Mortgage, (i1)
Permitted Liens, and (iii) liens arising in connection with workers' compensation, unemployment
insurance, or social security obligations.

(b) The Borrower will not create, assume, guarantee, or otherwise become or remain
directly or indirectly liable with respect to any additional Indebtedness other than (a)
Indebtedness to the Purchaser; (b) Indebtedness obtained with the prior written consent of the
Purchaser; (c) Indebtedness arising under this Agreement; and (d) Indebtedness, capital leases or
purchase money notes which does not exceed $ in any one Fiscal Year, provided the same



is made on an unsecured basis or secured only with the item being financed; provided, however,
that the Purchaser hereby consents to additional Indebtedness or capital leases or other purchase
money notes in excess of $ in any Fiscal Year if (i) the Borrower gives the Purchaser
fifteen (15) days prior written notice of the Borrower’s intent to incur additional Indebtedness
including the amount and terms of the same, and (ii) the Purchaser determines that (A) no Event
of Default or Unmatured Event of Default has occurred or is existing under this Agreement, and
(B) the Borrower is then in compliance with the Debt Service Coverage Ratio set forth in Section
7.08 hereof, and (C) the Borrower shall remain in compliance with the Debt Service Coverage
Ratio set forth in Section 7.08(a) based upon the financial statements for the most recent fiscal
year, when the proposed additional indebtedness of the Borrower is added to all of the Long-
Term Indebtedness of the Borrower then outstanding.

Section 8.02. Sale or other Disposition of Assets. The Borrower will not sell, lease,
assign, transfer or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets or the Real Property or
any of the Personal Property or any interest therein (whether in one transaction or in a series of
transactions) except that the Borrower may replace worn or obsolete Personal Property with
property of equal or greater value and utility. [The Borrower will not lease any of the Real
Property having annual rental payments greater than $50,000, without the Purchaser 's consent,
not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.]

Section 8.03. Consolidation and Merger. The Borrower will not consolidate with or
merge into any Person, or permit any other Person to merge into it, or acquire (in a transaction
analogous in purpose or effect to a consolidation or merger) all or substantially all the assets of
any other Person.

Section 8.04. Accounting. The Borrower will not adopt, permit or consent to any
material change in accounting principles other than as required by GAAP. The Borrower will not
adopt, permit or consent to any change in its fiscal year, without providing prior written notice of
such change to the Purchaser.

Section 8.05. Tax Exemption. The Borrower will not take any action or permit any
action within its control to be taken that would cause any Interest to become includable in gross
income of the recipient for federal income tax purposes under the Code (including, without
limitation, intentional acts under Treas. Reg. § 1.148-2(c) or a deliberate action within the
meaning of Treas. Reg. § 1.141-2(d)(3)), and the Borrower will take and will cause its officers,
employees and agents to take all affirmative actions legally within its power necessary to ensure
that such Interest does not become includable in gross income of the recipient for federal income
tax purposes under the Code (including, without limitation, the calculation and payment of any
rebate required to preserve such exclusion).

ARTICLE IX

PAYMENT OF COSTS OF ISSUANCE

The Borrower will pay (subject, however, to the limitations set forth in the Tax
Certificate) from the Expense Account established under Section 2.07 via requisition from the



Borrower the costs of issuing the Bonds including the fees and expenses of bond counsel, the
Issuer, the Purchaser, Purchaser’s counsel, Borrower’s counsel and advisors and any recording or
similar fees, in accordance with this Agreement.

ARTICLE X
DAMAGE TO OR DESTRUCTION OR TAKING OF THE PROPERTY

Section 10.01. Recovery of Insurance Proceeds.

In the event of material damage to or destruction of all or any part of the Property, the
parties will cooperate in order to recover any applicable proceeds of insurance under Section
7.06. After the happening of any casualty causing material damage to the Projects, the Borrower
shall give prompt written notice thereof to the Purchaser, and there shall be no abatement or
reduction in the payments required to be made by the Borrower under this Agreement. Material
Damage in this context shall mean either (a) damages to any property in excess of $250,000 or
(b) damages that will materially adversely affect continuing operations.

In the event of the destruction of any part of the Projects or any damage thereto, all
proceeds in excess of $50,000 of insurance (after payment of any costs of collection) shall be
paid to the Borrower and held in a separate account and, so long as no Default or Event of
Default under this Agreement shall have occurred and be continuing and such proceeds shall be
applied for the restoration of the Projects by the Borrower. If such proceeds are insufficient for
such restoration, the Borrower will provide for payment of the costs of completion from its own
moneys. Any insurance proceeds remaining after payment of all such costs shall, so long as no
Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall have occurred and be continuing, be paid
to the Borrower. However, if within ninety (90) days after the damage or destruction, the
Borrower determines in good faith that (i) the Projects cannot be reasonably restored within a
period of twelve (12) months from the date of such damage or destruction, or (ii) the Borrower is
thereby prevented from carrying on its normal operation of the Property for a period of six (6)
months from the date of such damage or destruction and the Borrower so notifies the Purchaser
in writing, the Borrower shall not be obligated to restore the Property and the net insurance
proceeds shall be used as directed by the Purchaser.

Section 10.02. Eminent Domain. Should the Projects or any material part thereof be
taken or damaged by reason of any public improvement or condemnation proceeding or in any
other manner (a “Taking”), or should the Borrower receive any notice or other information
regarding such proceeding, the Borrower shall give prompt written notice thereof to the
Purchaser and there shall be no abatement or reduction in the payments required to be made by
the Borrower under this Agreement. A Material Taking in this context shall mean either (a)
condemnation to any property in excess of $250,000 or (b) condemnation that will materially
adversely affect the Borrower’s continuing operations.

In the event of any such Material Taking in excess of $250,000 so long as no Default
under this Agreement shall have occurred and be continuing, the Borrower shall repair or
reconstruct the Property to make the Property adequate for the continuance of the Borrower’s
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business operations at the sites of the Projects. The compensation, awards, damages, rights of
action and proceeds awarded to the Borrower in connection with such Taking, net of costs of
collection, if any (the “Proceeds”), shall be deposited by the Borrower in a separate account with
the Disbursing Agent. Upon the completion of such restoration, the Disbursing Agent shall, so
long as no Default or Event of Default under this Agreement shall have occurred or be
continuing, release the balance, if any, of the Proceeds to the Borrower, provided, however, that
if, in the event of any Taking, the Borrower is not permitted to restore the Property or the
Borrower fails to restore the Property within twelve (12) months of such election, the Proceeds
shall promptly be deposited or transferred as directed by the Purchaser.

Section 10.03. During Default. If an Event of Default exists the Purchaser may take all
action necessary to recover the proceeds of insurance and of a Taking, including settling any
claims with the insurers or taking authority, and any such proceeds shall be paid directly to the
Purchaser.

ARTICLE XI

ASSIGNMENT AND SELLING

Section 11.01. Transfer and Assignment by the Purchaser. This Agreement, and the right
to receive payments hereunder, may be assigned and reassigned in whole to any assignee or
subassignee by the Purchaser at any time subsequent to its execution, upon transfer of the Bonds
by the Purchaser to a subsequent registered owner of the Bonds. No such transfer and
assignment or reassignment shall be effective unless and until the Issuer and the Borrower shall
have received notice of the transfer and assignment or reassignment disclosing the name and
address of the assignee or subassignee and unless and until the Issuer shall have issued a new
Bond, naming the transferee and assignee as registered owner (which the Issuer shall have no
obligation to do unless and until the Issuer has first received a canceled Bond naming the
Purchaser as registered owner). Upon receipt of notice of assignment, the Borrower shall, with
the assistance of the Issuer, furnish a new Bond to the transferee and assignee upon receipt of a
cancelled Bond from the Purchaser and a duly executed assumption of the Purchaser’s
obligations under this Agreement by the transferee and assignee, and the Borrower shall
thenceforth make all payments to the transferee and assignee designated in the notice of
assignment, notwithstanding any claim, defense, setoff or counterclaim whatsoever (whether
arising from a breach of this Agreement or otherwise) that the Issuer and the Borrower may from
time to time have against the Purchaser or the assignee. Upon any such transfer and assignment,
the Purchaser shall indemnify the Issuer and hold the Issuer harmless from and against all
liabilities of the Issuer arising in connection with the cancellation of the Bond naming the
Purchaser as registered owner and the issuance of a new Bond naming the transferee as registered
owner. Subject to the foregoing, the Issuer and the Borrower agree to execute all documents,
including notices of assignment and financing statements, which may be reasonably requested by
the Purchaser or its assignee to protect their interest in the Property and in this Agreement;
provided, however, that the Issuer and the Borrower shall be reimbursed by the Purchaser for all
costs incurred by the Issuer in connection therewith.
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Section 11.02. No Sale or Assignment by the Borrower. This Agreement and the interest
of the Borrower in the Property may not be sold, assumed, assigned or encumbered by the
Borrower without the prior written consent of the Purchaser, except in the cases of (i) Permitted
Liens, (ii) obsolete equipment and facilities, (iii) items abandoned or replaced in the ordinary
course of business; or (iv) Property not having a value in excess of $50,000 in any Fiscal Year..

EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

Section 12.01. Events of Default. The following constitute “Events of Default” or
singularly an “Event of Default” under this Agreement:

(a) failure by the Borrower to pay to the Purchaser, as assignee of the Issuer, any Debt
Service Payment or to pay any other payment required to be paid hereunder, in any case, within
five (5) days of when due;

(b) failure by the Borrower to maintain insurance on the Property in accordance with
Section 7.06 hereof;

(©) failure by the Borrower to observe, comply with and/or perform the covenants,
conditions and agreements set forth in Article VIII hereof;,

(d) failure by the Borrower or the Issuer to observe and perform any other covenant,
condition or agreement of the Borrower or the Issuer, respectively, contained herein, in the other
Transaction Documents or in any other document or agreement executed in connection herewith
on its part to be observed or performed for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice is
given to the Borrower or the Issuer, as the case may be, specifying such failure and requesting
that it be remedied; provided, however, that, if the failure stated in such notice cannot be
corrected within such 30-day period, the Purchaser will not unreasonably withhold its consent to
an extension of such time if corrective action is instituted by the Borrower or the Issuer, as the
case may be, within the applicable period and diligently pursued until the default is corrected;

(e) initiation by the Issuer of a proceeding under any federal or state bankruptcy or
insolvency law seeking relief under such laws concerning the indebtedness of the Issuer;

() the Borrower shall be or become insolvent, or admit in writing its inability to pay
its debts as they mature, or make an assignment for the benefit of creditors; or the Borrower shall
apply for or consent to the appointment of any receiver, trustee or similar officer for them or for
all or any substantial part of its property; or such receiver, trustee or similar officer shall be
appointed without the application or consent of the Borrower (and shall not have been dismissed
within sixty (60) days); or the Borrower shall institute (by petition, application, answer, consent
or otherwise) any bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, arrangement, readjustment of debt,
dissolution, liquidation or similar proceeding relating to them under the laws of any jurisdiction;
or any such proceeding shall be instituted (by petition, application or otherwise) against the
Borrower (and shall not have been dismissed within sixty (60) days); or any judgment, writ,
warrant of attachment or execution or similar process shall be issued or levied against a



substantial part of the property of the Borrower (and shall not have been dismissed within sixty
(60) days);

(8) any material representation or warranty made by the Borrower or the Issuer herein,
in the Tax Certificate, or in any other document executed in connection herewith was untrue in
any material respect when made;

(h) any representation or warranty made by the Borrower herein or in any certificate,
agreement, statement or document simultaneously herewith or hereafter furnished to the
Purchaser in connection herewith, including without limitation, any financial information
disclosed to the Purchaser, shall prove to be materially false or incorrect in any material respect;

(1) the Borrower shall terminate its existence by merger, consolidation, sale of
substantially all of its assets or otherwise;

) any event of default or breach of any of the Borrower’s covenants or obligations
to the Purchaser or any of the Purchaser's affiliates under any documents evidencing or securing
any other loans from the Purchaser to the Borrower; or

(k) any event of default under any Hedge Agreement.

The Borrower shall promptly notify the Purchaser and the Issuer of the occurrence of any
Event of Default or the occurrence or existence of any event or condition which, upon the giving
of notice of lapse of time, or both, may become an Event of Default.

Section 12.02. Remedies on Default. Whenever any Event of Default shall have occurred
and be continuing, the Purchaser may take any one or any combination of the following remedial
steps insofar as the same are available to mortgagees under Chapter 479 of the New Hampshire
Revised Statutes Annotated (or successor statute) and/or secured parties under Article 9 of the
UCC in effect in the State from time to time and which are otherwise accorded to the Purchaser
by applicable law:

(a) by notice to the Borrower and the Issuer, declare the entire unpaid principal
amount of the Bonds and the Loan then outstanding, all interest accrued and unpaid thereon and
all amounts payable under this Agreement to be forthwith due and payable, whereupon the Bonds
and the Loan, all such accrued interest and all such amounts shall become and be forthwith due
and payable, without presentment, notice of dishonor, protest or further notice of any kind, all of
which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower;

(b) proceed by appropriate court action to enforce specific performance by the Issuer
or the Borrower of the applicable covenants of this Agreement or to recover for the breach
thereof, including the payment of all amounts due from the Borrower. The Borrower shall pay or
repay to the Purchaser and the Issuer all costs of such action or court action, including, without
limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees; and

(c) take whatever action at law or in equity may appear necessary or desirable to
enforce its rights with respect to the Property. The Borrower shall pay or repay to the Purchaser
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or the Issuer all costs of such action or court action, including, without limitation, reasonable
attorneys’ fees.

In addition, notwithstanding any contrary provision in this Agreement, the Issuer and its
directors, officers, employees and agents shall have the right to take any action not prohibited by
law or make any decision not prohibited by law with respect to proceedings for indemnity against
the liability of such party and for collection or reimbursement of moneys due to such party under
this Agreement. The Issuer and its directors, officers, employees and agents may enforce the
Unassigned Rights by legal proceedings for the specific performance of any obligation contained
herein or for the enforcement of any other legal or equitable remedy, and may recover damages
caused by any breach by the Borrower of its obligations to the Issuer under this Agreement,
including, without limitation, any amounts required to be paid by the Borrower pursuant to
Sections 4.03 and 13.01 hereof and court costs, reasonable attorney’s fees and other costs and
expenses incurred in enforcing such obligations. The Borrower hereby waives to the extent
permitted by applicable law the application of the doctrine of marshaling with regard to Property
securing the Loan and any Hedge Agreement.

Section 12.03. No Remedy Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to
the Issuer is intended to be exclusive and every such remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in
addition to every other remedy given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or
in equity. No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any Event of
Default shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any
such right or power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed
expedient. In order to entitle the Issuer to exercise any remedy reserved to it in this Agreement, it
shall not be necessary to give any notice other than such notice as may be required by this
Agreement. All remedies herein conferred upon or reserved to the Issuer shall survive the
termination of this Agreement.

Section 12.04. Late Charge. Any Debt Service Payment not paid by the Borrower within
five (5) days of the due date thereof shall, to the extent permissible by law, bear a late charge
equal to seven percent (7.00%) of the amount of the payment, and the Borrower shall be
obligated to pay the same immediately upon receipt of the Purchaser's written invoice therefor.

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 13.01. Costs and Expenses of the Purchaser. The Borrower shall pay to the
Purchaser an upfront fee of six-thousandths of one percent (0.006%) of the amount of the Loan,
due and payable at origination and shall pay such amounts in each year as shall be required by the
Purchaser in payment of any reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the Purchaser in
connection with the execution, performance or enforcement of this Agreement and the other
Transaction Documents, including but not limited to payment of all reasonable fees, costs and
expenses and all administrative costs of the Purchaser in connection with the Property, the Bonds
and the Loan (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements, fees of
auditors or attorneys, insurance premiums not otherwise paid hereunder and all other direct and
necessary administrative costs of the Purchaser or charges required to be paid by it in order to
comply with the terms of, or to enforce its rights under, this Agreement, but not including general
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administrative or overhead expenses of the Purchaser). Such costs and expenses shall be billed
to the Borrower by the Purchaser from time to time, together with a statement certifying that the
amount so billed has been paid by the Purchaser for one or more of the items above described, or
that such amount is then payable by the Purchaser for such items. Amounts so billed shall be due
and payable by the Borrower within thirty (30) days after receipt of the bill by the Borrower.

Section 13.02. Disclaimer of Warranties. THE PURCHASER AND THE ISSUER
MAKE NO WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS
TO THE VALUE, DESIGN, CONDITION, MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR FITNESS FOR USE OF THE PROPERTY, OR ANY OTHER
WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT
HERETO. Inno event shall the Purchaser or the Issuer be liable for any loss or damage in
connection with or arising out of the Bonds, this Agreement, the Property or the existence,
furnishing, functioning or the Borrower’s use of any item or products or services provided for in
this Agreement.

Section 13.03. Notices. All notices, certificates, certifications, requests, demands and
other communications provided for hereunder or under the other Transaction Documents shall be
in writing and shall be (a) personally delivered, (b) sent by first class United States mail, (c) sent
by overnight courier of national reputation, or (d) transmitted by telecopy, in each case addressed
to the party to whom notice is being given at its address as set forth above and, if telecopied,
transmitted to that party at its telecopier number set forth above or, as to each party, at such other
address or telecopier number as may hereafter be designated by such party in a written notice to
the other party complying as to delivery with the terms of this Section. All such notices,
requests, demands and other communications shall be effective upon receipt. If notice to the
Borrower of any intended disposition of the Property or any other intended action is required by
law in a particular instance, such notice shall be deemed commercially reasonable if given (in the
manner specified in this Section) at least ten (10) calendar days prior to the date of intended
disposition or other action.

Section 13.04. Further Assurance and Corrective Instruments. The Issuer and the
Borrower hereby agree that they will, from time to time, execute, acknowledge and deliver, or
cause to be executed, acknowledged and delivered, such further acts, instruments, conveyances,
transfers and assurances, as the Purchaser reasonably deems necessary or advisable for the
implementation, correction, confirmation or perfection of this Agreement or the other
Transaction Documents and any rights of the Purchaser hereunder or thereunder.

Section 13.05. Binding Effect: Time of the Essence. This Agreement shall inure to the
benefit of and shall be binding upon the Purchaser, the Issuer, the Borrower and their respective
successors and assigns.

Section 13.06. Severability. In the event any provision of this Agreement shall be held
invalid or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate
or render unenforceable any other provision hereof.



Section 13.07. Amendments. To the extent permitted by law, the terms of this Agreement
shall not be waived, altered, modified, supplemented or amended in any manner whatsoever
except by written instrument signed by the parties hereto, and then such waiver, consent,
modification or change shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the specific
purpose given.

Section 13.08. Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in several
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which shall constitute one and the
same instrument, and any of the parties hereto may execute this Agreement by signing any such
counterpart.

Section 13.09. Applicable Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in
accordance with the laws of the State.

Section 13.10. Captions. The captions or headings in this Agreement are for convenience
only and in no way define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any provisions or sections of
this Agreement.

Section 13.11. Entire Agreement. The Transactions Documents, and the exhibits hereto
and thereto constitute the entire agreement among the Purchaser, the Issuer, as applicable, and
the Borrower. There are no understandings, agreements, representations or warranties, express or
implied, not specified herein or in such documents regarding this Agreement or the Property
financed or refinanced hereby.

Section 13.12. Usury. It is the intention of the parties hereto to comply with any
applicable usury laws; accordingly, it is agreed that, notwithstanding any provisions to the
contrary in this Agreement, in no event shall this Agreement require the payment or permit the
collection of interest or any amount in the nature of interest or fees in excess of the maximum
permitted by applicable law.

Section 13.13. Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PURCHASER, THE ISSUER
AND THE BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES ITS RESPECTIVE RIGHTS TO A JURY TRIAL
OF ANY CLAIM OR CAUSE OF ACTION BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF,
DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OF THE TRANSACTION
DOCUMENTS, ANY DEALINGS AMONG THE PURCHASER, THE ISSUER OR THE
BORROWER RELATING TO THE SUBJECT MATTER OF THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY RELATED TRANSACTIONS,
AND/OR THE RELATIONSHIP THAT IS BEING ESTABLISHED AMONG THE
PURCHASER, THE ISSUER AND THE BORROWER. THE SCOPE OF THIS WAIVER IS
INTENDED TO BE ALL ENCOMPASSING OF ANY AND ALL DISPUTES THAT MAY BE
FILED IN ANY COURT (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, CONTRACT CLAIMS,
TORT CLAIMS, BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS AND ALL OTHER COMMON LAW AND
STATUTORY CLAIMS). THIS WAIVER MAY NOT BE MODIFIED ORALLY AND THIS
WAIVER SHALL APPLY TO ANY SUBSEQUENT AMENDMENTS, RENEWALS,
SUPPLEMENTS OR MODIFICATIONS TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY RELATED
DOCUMENTS, OR TO ANY OTHER DOCUMENTS OR AGREEMENTS RELATING TO
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THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS OR
ANY RELATED TRANSACTIONS. IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, THIS AGREEMENT
MAY BE FILED AS A WRITTEN CONSENT TO A TRIAL BY THE COURT.

Section 13.14. No Personal Liability or Accountability. No covenant, stipulation,
obligation or agreement contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenant, stipulation,
obligation or agreement of any present, past or future director, member, officer, agent or
employee of the Issuer in his or her individual capacity, and the directors, officers, employees or
agents of the Issuer and any official of the Issuer executing any of the documents referred to in
this sentence shall not be liable personally with respect to such documents or be subject to any
personal liability or accountability by reason of the execution and delivery thereof.

Section 13.15. Termination. When all Debt Service Payments have been made in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement and all other amounts owed to the Purchaser or the
Issuer or their respective directors, officers, employees and agents have been paid or provided for
to the satisfaction of the Purchaser and the Issuer, this Agreement (but not the provisions of
Sections 2.01 and 4.06 and 13.17 and any other provisions which are to survive termination
hereof) shall terminate and the Purchaser or the Issuer, at the request and expense of the
Borrower, shall execute such documents or instruments as may be reasonably requested by the
Borrower to defease any Lien created by the Purchaser or the Issuer under this Agreement upon
the Property.

Section 13.16. Survival of Covenants. Etc. All covenants, agreements, representations
and warranties made herein and in certificates delivered in connection herewith shall be deemed
to have been relied on by the Purchaser and the Issuer, notwithstanding any investigation made
by the Purchaser or the Issuer, or in their behalf, and shall survive the execution and delivery of
this Agreement until payment in full of the Loan. All such covenants, agreements,
representations and warranties shall inure to the benefit of the Borrower’s and the Purchaser's
and the Issuer's successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not.

Section 13.17. Indemnification of the Purchaser by the Borrower. The Borrower,
regardless of any agreement to maintain insurance, shall indemnify and save harmless, to the
fullest extent permitted by law, the Purchaser and its directors, officers, employees and agents
from and against (a) any and all claims by or on behalf of any person arising out of (1) any
condition of the Property, or (2) the acquisition, or operation of the Property or any work or
anything whatsoever done or omitted to be done on or about the Property, or (3) any accident,
injury or damage whatsoever to any person occurring on or about the Property, or (4) any breach
or default by the Borrower of or in any of its obligations hereunder, or (5) any act or omission of
the Borrower or any of its agents, contractors, servants, employees or licensees, or (6) the
offering, issuance, sale or any resale of this Agreement or the Loan, but only to the extent
permitted by law, and (b) any and all costs, reasonable counsel fees, expenses or liabilities
reasonably incurred in connection with any such claim or any action or proceeding brought
thereon. In case any action or proceeding is brought against the Purchaser or any of'its directors,
officers, employees or agents by reason of any such claim, the Borrower, upon notice from the
affected party, shall resist or defend such action or proceeding. Subject to the foregoing, the
Purchaser shall cooperate and join with the Borrower, at the expense of the Borrower, as may be
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required in connection with any action or defense by the Borrower. This indemnification shall
survive the termination or defeasance of this Agreement.

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement in
their respective corporate names by their duly authorized officers, all as of the date first
written above.

BANK OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
(“Purchaser”)

By:

Witness Name:

Title:

BUSINESS FINANCE AUTHORITY OF
THE STATE OF NEW HAMPSHIRE
(“Issuer™)

Witness Name:

Title;

PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY
(“Borrower™)

By:

Witness Name:
Title:




EXHIBIT A

DEBT SERVICE PAYMENTS



EXHIBIT B

PERMITTED LIENS
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EXHIBIT C

BOND FORM
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Bank of

== New Hampshire
%es v ?7”-»’; 2 Frre's loeol G

Mr. Dennis Runey, Headmaster
Portsmouth Christian Academy
20 Seaborme Drive
Dover, NH 03820

Dear Mr. Runey;

hat Bank of New Hampshire (“Bank™) has approved your request for
‘10\~ 1ng provisions,

Portsmouth Christian Academy
20 Seaborne Drive
Dover, NH 03820

B i 1
New Hampshire Business Finance Authority ("NHBFA™)

BANK COUNSEL:

Devine, Millimet and Braach PA
11 Amhers; Street

Manchester, NH 03101

FACILITY TYPE:

Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2013
direct purchase by:

Bank of New Hampshire

62 Pleasant Street

Laconiz, NH 03244

PAR AMOUNT:
Nine Million Five Hundred Thirteen Thousand Dollars ($9,313,000.00) or less;

UQ OF P?.OC““'FDS'
iance NHHEFA Series 2002 bond, finance capital expenditures not greater than 100,000,
and 5 nance all or some costs of issuance;

smer Service Canter 1.800.832.6932 BankNH com

Antrms Bediord  Center Ossipee  Claremont Cencord (2) Comway  Oover  Gifford (2 Gorham
Hiisborcugh  Laconmia Limeein  Liltlelon  Manchester Moultonbarough  Plymouth  Rochester Whitefleld  Woodsville




Portsmouth Christian Academy
Commitment Letter

June 25,2013 - Revised
Page2 of 8

OPTION 1
INTEREST RATE: Interest rate shall be fixed at 3.25% for the first S-years and will thereafier
be subject to an adjustment every 3-years based upon the 5-year Federal Home Loan Bank
Boston Long-Term Classic Advance CDA (Community Development Ad vanc») ate plus 200
basis points. The proposed interest rate is conditioned upon NHBFA’s agreement to issus the
subject bond and the Bank’s receipt of a legal opinion from & qualified law firm confirming that
the subjectbond is a qualif"‘ﬂf" tax Dxer:pt obligaticn. Interest shall be calculated on the Bank
Method, also known as the ac 360 or the 365/350 method;

TIZATION AND MATURITY': Subject bond will be amartized over a thirty (30) year
eriod of time. Borrower has the option of selecting approximate principal &-”d i nterest payments

0f'$125,124.00 to be paid quarterly or $250,851.00 to be p”ﬂfﬂ seml-_zmual y- subject bord
ill in twenty (70) years, when the outstanding principal balance an d ny accrued interest

L
=
O
%

OPTION 2
ate shall be fixed at 4.15% for the first 10-yvears and will thereafier
the next IO-fears based upon the 10-year Federal Home Loan

INTEREST RATE: Interestr
be subject to an adjustment fo
Bank Bosten Long-Term Classic Advanc DA (Co:ﬂnm ity Development Advance) rate plus
170 basis points. The proposad interest rate is conditioned upon NHBFA's agreement to issue
the subject bond and the Bank’s eceipt ofa egal opinion from a qualified law firm confirming
that the subject bond is a qualified tax t obligation. Interest shall be calculated on the Bank
Method, also known as the actual /,60 or the 363/360 methob;

AMORTIZATION AND MATURITY: Subject bond will be amortized over a thirty (30) year
period of time. Borrower has the option of selecting aporoximate principal and interest paymen:s

of $139,945.00 to be paid qu a,.prlv or $280,623.00 to be paid semi-annually. The subject bond
will mature in twenty (20) vear en the outstanding principal balance and any accrued interest

shall be due and payable;

PREPAYMENT PREMIUM: In connection with the [0-year fixed rate, if the subject bond is
prepaid by refinancing through another financial institution during the first ten (10) years the
Borrower agrees to remit a prepayment premium calculated on the then outstanding balance
equal to 3% in years | through 5 and equal to 2% in vears 6 through 10;




Portsmouth Christian Academy
Commitment Letter

June 25,2013 - Revisad

Page 3 of §

ISSUE DATE.:
Tentatively August 15, 2013;

AVAILABILITY:

Bond proceeds shall be disbursed “v"ithin 24-hours of Bank’s receipt of all properly executed
documentation, legal cpinions and evidence of collateral interests being perfec V-.ed, subject to the
provisions of the Loan Agreement to be executad on or befor l he [ssue Date;

LATE CHARGES:
Borrower agrees to pay a late char
payment is not received by Bﬂ'ﬂ\ wi

nt of the :ayme**t amount if any
f* r days of the due d

4"'?- ( U
o]
~h
n
(&)
P
()
|
~—~
~J
NS
>
N

(D s
(D
(l)

e rated by a bond rating agency;
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OPINTION OF COUNSEL:
Legal counsel representing the Borrower shall deliver to the Bank en opinicn confirmin
Borrower is duly organized, vali t »
authorized to enter into the bon T_ransactio:z; that there is no pending litigation or claims existing
or threatenad again h ; i
Borrower to perform; that the transaction herein contemplated i
toresultina vi oi tion of the law, statute, rule or regu bt on of the State of New Hampshir
t e Borrower, and that the officers of the Borrower who will
executing tk doa_:nn s ere fully authorized to execute th<. documents for and on ue%a.
Borrewer. Such legal opinion of Bo ower’s counsel shall be presented to Bank notless th
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fifteen (13) calendar days prior to the Issue Date;
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COLLATERAL:
Borrower agrees to provide a first mortgage and first assignment of leases and rents on the reel
estate known as Portsmouth Christian Acadzmy situated at 20 Szaborne Drive in Dover, NH.

'\

Borrower also agrees to provide a f
assets; Borrower further agrees to
endowment zccounts;

irst security interest in all tangible and intangible business
,:i

pledge gross revenues and provide a negative pl edf'° f its

INSPECTION:
Borrow hereby grants Bank permission to enter upon and inspect all collateral prior to

commitment and from time to time during the term of the subject bond, as requested by the Bank.
the condition of which must be satisfactory to the Bank in all respects. The Bank reserves the

right to deem any property unacceptable for use as collateral;



Portsmouth Christian Academy
Commitment Letter

June 25, 2013 - Revised

Page 4 of &

REAL ESTATE APPRAISAL:

Borrower acknowledges that Bank approval is conditionad upon the Bank’s receipt of a
conforming, independent commercial real estate appraisal certlfvmcrau esent fair market value
that is such that the ratio of loan to fair market value (“LTV”) shall not exceed 80%. The cos
said appraisal and the cost for an independent third-party appraisal review shall be bome by the
Borrower;

A
Lt I0r

]

HAZARDOUS MATERIAL:
Boro Wera ”g* es to provide the Bank with a fully-completed Envircnmental Questionnaire ar

. such as the Phase 1 report of 1/20/99, and other informaticn, in & form an d
Sf.xDbic‘IiCC sa{isfacto*y to the Bank, to evidence that no hazardous materia! is present on the
: s reason the B’:J\ deems it necessary to obtain one or more
i nts, the Borrawer agrees to pay the cost of such
nviron menta‘ Site Assessment indicate the need for

e Bank wi iew options and costs with the Borrower prier to eng gI 1g
o P

tanding the results of the Environmental Site Assessmen: o

ceepiable to the Bank, the Borrower shall indemmnify the Bank fro*w

%; b.er invc-stlgations being a
zny hezardous waste condition at the subject property whether existing or occurring in the future.

COSTS AND FEES:

Borrower agrees to pay an origination fee to the Bank. Such fee shall be calculared by
multiplying the par amount of the subject bond by .006. Borrower agrees to remit the origination
fee to the Bank when the subject bond is issued,;

Borrower agrees that the subject bond will be issued without cost to the Bank. Borrower also
agrees to reimburse Bank for any out-of-pocket expenses that the Bank may incur related to the
subject bord. Once accrued any such expenses are to be paid by the Borrower even if the subject
transaction is not finalized;

[¢]

Borrower agrees that within five (5) calendar days of acceptance of the commitment the

Borrower shall remit $20,000.00 to the Bank to =s-abi sh an “expense fund” from which the

Bank will withdraw monies to satisfy expenses, related to the subject bond, en behalf of the

Bomrower. The Borrower agrees to replenish said expense fund within five (5) calendar dm's of
he

Bank’s request to do so. On or before the Issue Date the Bank will provide an accounting to
fh; Borrower mdzca;ncr how funds withdrawn from the expense fund were utilized. Sal” expense
fund shall be closed within 90-days of the bond Issue Date at which time any monies therein will
be returned to Borrower;



Portsmouth Christian Academy
Comr‘"itmert Letter

June 25, 2013 - Revisad
Page 5 of §

GENERAL INSURANCE:
Borrower agrees to maintain fire and extended coverage anUTaTCS on all collateral securing the
bond in an amount acceptable to the Bank. Borrewer shall provide evidence of said insurance
listing Bank of New Harmnpshire as “morigagee™ and “loss payee” as well as include a Lender’s

Loss Payee Endorsement. Evidence of said insurance in the form of a binder is to be presented to
Bank not less than five (5) calendar days prior to the Issue Date;

Borrower also agrees to maintain sufficient comprehensive insurance that includes bodily injury,
death and property damage liability against all claims. Borrower also agree to mamfa.r sfﬂtutary

]

a
workers compensation insurance for any employees with respect to WO
regarding the subject real estate. Evidence of said insurance is to be prv ented to Bam not less
than five (3) calendar days prior to the Issue Date;

FLOCD E\TSURANCE'
I the collateral is located in 2 federally designated flood hazard aree, Borrower agrees to
main?ain statutory flood i 1'15urance in an amount egual to or grea-ter than the outstanding principal
balance of the bord, or the maximum limit of coverage available, and that a properly completed
nd s:g nad Certificete ofFl dI nsurance be prvau nted to the B ank at or prior to closing, [
v time throughout the life of ord the collateral is determined to be [ocated in a federally
designated flood haza-d area, Bu_.o\m; ngre s to purchase su F’l ient flood insurance. Because
the Bank’s flood determination service reports that at least some of the subject real estate is
presently situated within a flood hazard ares, evidence of sufficient insurance is to be
presented to Bank not fess than five (3} calendar days prior to the Issue Date. If the
Borrower disputes this finding, the Bank’s flood determination service will need to inspect the

subject real estate to c f rm whether or not some of the improvements are in dznger of flooding,
the cost for which shall be borns by the Borrower.

TITLE INSURANCE:

Borrower agrees to provide a generally accepted titls insurance cornmit"n nt or binder coverin

the real estate, which will secure the loan i 1:151,:1.;1” free and clear title to the Bank as their i "1*°r=5v
may apaea. must be presented to the Bank not less than five (5) days prior to loan closing. Such
:

title insurance must mset the auprua“ of the Bank’s attorney. Borrower may purchass owner's
le insurance from the same title insurance provider at an additional cost;

BANKING RELATIONSHIP:

Borrower agrees that not less than fifteen (13) calendars days prior to issuance of the subject
bond, the Borrower shall move its primary operating accounts to the Bank and <naN move its
Merchant Credit Card processing to the Bank (if Borrower accepts credit cards). Borrower
further agrees to exclusively maintain and use said accounts and services of the Bank throughout
the term of the subject bond. The Bank maintains a full service office at 845 Central Avenue in
Dover, NH.




Portsmouth Christian Academy
Commitment Letter

June 25, 2013 - Revise

Page 6 of 8

FINANCIAL REPORTING:
Borrower agrees to provide the foliowing information to the Bank within one hundred twenty
(120) days following the ciose of each fiscal year:

e Accountant-prepared, audited, comparative financial statement with full disclosure;

e Accountant-prepared, signed, federal income tax return;

e Student enrollment compared to the pricr two-years and segmented by Preschcol, grades

K through 8, and grades 9 through 12, and reporting per student income and expense;
= Resulis of fundraising activities compared to the prior two-years;

Bank reserves the right to require the submission of additional information from time to time,
and the Borrower hereby agrees to provide such information in a timely manner to the Bank’s

-

DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE:

Borrower agrees that throughout the term of the subject bond, the Borrower shall maintain a
1 bt Service Coverage ratio of 1:1, or not less than breakeven, based on the Nzt

Operzting Income (“NOI”) reported at fiscal vear end, calculated before ’ep eciation and
amortization, interest expense, and taxes, divided by all principal and interest payments paid or

Na im iha vase AL ’
due in the year of calculation;

Borrower agrees that neither this commitment letter nor any existing or future bonds or loans are
assumable

Es rowling is net required for real estate taxes or insurance, however, Borrower agrees that Bank
may require such in the fu‘ue

DOCUMENTATION:

Borrower agrees that all documents related to the a_bjecf bond are subject to the review and
approval of the Bank’s attorney. The Bank reserves the right to require other documents which it
may deem appropriate. In the event there is any difference between this commitment letter and
the final documents signed by the parties, then the provisions of the final documents prevail.
Bank’s commitment to lend is conditioned upon the signing of all documents required by, and in
the form ard containing such provisions as are required by, Bank’s counsel. Borrower
acknowledges thet the documents will contain terms, conditions, warranties, covenants, eve

default, definitions and other provisions of @ substantive nature thzt are in addition to the terms
at Forth in this commu--.en l°t*er Furt rmore Lh;‘ Borrower understands that it it chooses n
1

(/)

T

s
hawe ne ODhQEtIG’l pursua: ta tul\ commitment or 0 rx»ise to lend any money to Borrower;



Portsmouth Christian Academy
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TERMINATION:
Bank shall have no obligation to tund the
date of issue:
e Borrower shall have been amuf‘l ated bankrupt, insolvent, or a trustee or a receiver
1l have been reported for ali, or any portion of the property of the Borrower; or
o Borrower shall have filed a 'Wetl.-o of bankruptcy or same has been filed against it; or
e There shall have been a material misrepresentation or omission or failure to di sclose
made by the Borrower hereinorint i*e Borrower's request for financing proposal or a
material adverse change in either the financial condition or ownership of any
izl adverse change in the value or condition of the proposad

ubject bond if any of the following occur prior to the

n

w
[
i

,._4

s the Borrower in full

EXPIRATION:

Borrower agrees that unless this commitment has been accepted or otherwise extende d in
writing, by the Barnk, this commitment shall expire within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of
'FNS 1\. L“-,

RATE LOCK:
Upon Borrower’s acceptance of this co :ment, the Bark agree
Interest Rate Option that the Borrowe h '

PARTICIPATION:
Borrower agrees that Bank has the right to sell or otherwise convey all or some of its ownership
interest in the subject bond to other financial institutions;

PUBLICITY RELEASE:

Borrower hereby grants Bank permission to use its na-me, pno.ograpi; im ges, ilk‘zstrations. logo

etal l> about the subject financing for advertisi I

ges that it will receive no compensation foL tl B 'L"s use ¢ I

that once -*Fol u&tTOI‘. is releasyd to the gener I public the Bank will not be abEe to control o1
m

na
Q.
‘:J
(3
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Borrower’s acceptance of this commitment shall in no way constitute & contract or agreement o1
the part of Bank of New Hampshire, but is only an indication of the Bank’s intent

requested funds subject to the terms acceptable to you and the Bank. Itis -;derstood and agread
that the money applied for shall not be subject to your order until mortgages, assignments and
liens upon the collateral described herein are recorded arnd perfected and until all other
requirements of the Bank have been compiied with and all closing costs have been paid, until
which time it is understood that you hereby expressly waive any claims or rights to s

[t is further understood that neither the Bank nor its attorney shall be liable for any defect in the
title to the real estate to be mortgaged to ¢ B nk and the Bank’s attorney represents the Bank
and not you as the Borrower. The Borrower is encouragad to consult an attorney of your own

ank
&1
481

(D

(

1

choosing if represemaﬂon is desired.

The Bank reserves the right to decline or withdraw the approved loan request if any of the credit
considerations change from time of application to date of clo

9]

Y, p lease indicate your acceptance by s::m:; wh re
1@ original signed letter to my attention. Upon re
necessary documentation prepared. Should youT" ve anv

If the foregoing terms are satisfactos
indicated below and returning th
executed letter, we will have the

questions regarding any of thesa terms, please do not hesitate to contact me at 327-3284.

O O
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I’lgram/ J
Senior Vice President

Borrower:
Lhe ‘nbv attest that [ am authorized to execute this agreement on behalf of Portsmouth Christizn
Academy and that the foregoing terms and conditions are a cbpfao‘p n all respects. /'We have

selected tma_ cing Option 1 04\_/,2 1d prefer to remit paym ems/:a‘ rlv .or semi-annually,

/(/x

x27) /;f/i?%gi,

nristian Acade Title




New Hampshire Economic Conditions - August 2013

www.nhes.nh.gov/elmi

Not Seasonally Adjusted Estimates by Place of Residence

Labor Force Estimates

New Hampshire Jun-13 May-13 Jun-12
Total Civilian Labor Force 749,550 741,370 749,920
Employed 711,290 703,830 707,290
Unemployed 38,260 37,540 42,630

Unemployment Rate 5.1% 5.1% 5.7%
United States (# in thousands) Jun-13 May-13 Jun-12
Total Civilian Labor Force 157,089 155,734 156,385
Employed 144,841 144,432 143,202
Unemployed 12,248 11,302 13,184

Unemployment Rate 7.8% 7.3% 8.4%

Unemployment Rates by Area

Counties Jun-13  May-13 Jun-12 }
Belknap 4.7% 4.8% 5.2% |
Carroll 4.5% 4.8% 4.9%
Cheshire 5.0% 5.0% 5.6%
Coos 5.8% 6.4% 7.8%
Grafton 4.4% 4.3% 4.9%
Hillsborough 5.3% 5.2% 5.9%
Merrimack 4.6% 4.6% 5.2%
Rockingham 5.5% 5.4% 6.0%
Strafford 5.0% 5.0% 5.8%
Sullivan 4.3% 4.3% 5.0%
M
T(Z;) Labor Market Areas dun-13 - May-13  Jun-12
1 | Colebrook NH-VT LMA, NH Portion 6.3% 7.6% 8.3%
2 | Berlin NH MicroNECTA 6.5% 7.0% 8.9%
3 | Litteton NH-VT LMA. NH Porticn 4.2% 4.5% 5.4%
4 | Haverhill NH LMA 5.2% 5.2% 5.5%
5 | Conway NH-ME LMA. NH Portion 4.8% 5.2% 5.3%
6 | Plymouth NH LMA 5.1% 5.4% 5.6%
7 | Moeultonborough NH LMA 3.3% 3.4% 3.5%
8 | Lebanon NH-VT MicroNECTA, NH Portion 3.7% 3.5% 4.2%
9 | Laconia NH MicroNECTA 4 8% 5.0% 5.3%
10 | Wolteboro NH LMA 4.2% 4.4% 4.6%
11 | Franklin NH MicroNECTA 4.8% 4.8% 5.3%
12 | Claremont NH MicreNECTA 4.4% 4.1% 4.9%
13 | Newport NH LMA 4.9% 5.0% 5.6%
14 | New London NH LMA 4.5% 4.7% 5.2%
15 | Concord NH MicroNECTA 4.6% 4.5% 5.0%
16 | Rechester-Oover NH-ME MetroNECTA,
NH Portion 5.0% 5.0% 5.8%
17 | Charlestown NH LMA 4.4% 4.4% 51%
18 | Hillsborough NH LMA 5.5% 5.5% 6.3%
19 | Manchester NH MetroNECTA 5.0% 4.9% 5.7%
20 | Keene NH MicroNECTA 4.8% 4.8% 5.4%
21 | Peterborough NH LMA 5.5% 5.4% 8.1%
22 | Nashua NH-MA NECTA Division, NH Partion 5.4% 5.3% 5.9%
23 | ExeterArea, NH Portion, Haverhitl-N. Andover-
Amesbury MA-NH NECTA Division 6.2% 5.8% 6.4%
24 | Portsmouth NH-ME MetroNECTA. NH Portion 4.5% 4.5% 4.8%
25 | Hinsdale Town, NH Portion, Brattleboro VT-NH
LMA 6.8% 5.9% 6.3%
26 | Pelham Town, NH Portion, Lowell-Billerica-
Chelmsford MA-NH NECTA Division 6.8% 6.6% 7.2%
27 | Salem Town, NH Portion, Lawrence-Methuen-
Salem MA-NH NECTA Division 7.4% 7.3% 8.2%

Unemployment Rates by Region

Not Seasonally Adjusted Jun-13 May-13 Jun-12
United States 7.8% 7.3% 8.4%
Northeast 7.8% 7.5% 8.4%

New England 7.3% 7.0% 7.4%
Connecticut 8.2% 8.1% 8.7%

Maine 6.8% 6.8% 71%

Massachusetts 7.4% 6.7% 6.9%

New Hampshire 5.1% 5.1% 5.7%

Rhode Island 8.5% 9.2% 10.3%

Vermont 4.8% 4.2% 5.2%

Mid Atlantic 8.0% 7.7% 8.8%

New Jersey 9.0% 8.7% 9.8%

New York 7.6% 7.4% 8.7%

Pennsylvania 7.9% 7.4% 8.3%

Current month is preliminary;

past months are revised

June 2013

i l Less than 5.0%
[ ] 50%t059%

| 6.0%106.9%

7.0% t0 7.9%

8.0% and above

Unattached Areas

New Hampshire unemployment and labor force estimates are calculated using a regression model
which depends on Current Population Survey (CPS) estimates. Labor Market Area estimates are
calculated using the Bureau of Labor Statistics “Handbook Method” and then adjusted to the State

levels.

New Hampshire Employment Security, Economic and Labor Market Information Bureau



A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING UP TO $9,440,000 BONDS FOR REFUNDING
OUTSTANDING BONDS OF THE PORTSMOUTH CHRISTIAN ACADEMY IN DOVER,
NEW HAMPSHIRE AND TO FINANCE CERTAIN CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

WHEREAS, Portsmouth Christian Academy (the “Academy”) has by submission of
Form BFA-1 notified the Business Finance Authority of the State of New Hampshire (the
"Authority") of its desire to refinance certain educational facilities as described in Exhibit A
hereto (the "Facilities") and to finance the acquisition of certain capital assets described in
Exhibit B, and has requested the Authority to issue one or more series of Revenue Bonds
(Portsmouth Christian Academy Issue), Series 2013 (the "Bonds") in an aggregate principal
amount not to exceed $9,440,000 under RSA 162-1 (the "Act"), and to loan the proceeds to the
Academy in order to refinance costs of the Projects and finance the costs of capital assets to the
extent it qualifies as a "qualified 501(c)3 bond" within the meaning of Section 145(a) of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

WHEREAS, the Authority has been furnished with (a) information and materials about
the Academy, the Projects and unemployment in the Dover area, (b) evidence that Bank of New
Hampshire (the "Bank") is willing to purchase the Bonds, (c) the proposed form of the
MORTGAGE, SECURITY, AND LOAN AGREEMENT among the Authority, the Academy
and the Bank which is a combined financing and security document which will secure the Bonds
(the "Agreement), and (d) other information, materials and assurances deemed relevant by the
Authority;

IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED THAT:

Section 1. Findings. On the basis of the information, materials and assurances received by
the Authority and considered by it at an open meeting, the Authority funds:

(a) Special Findings:

(1) The Bonds will be used to: (i) current refund the New Hampshire Health
and Educational Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds, Portsmouth
Christian Academy, Series 2002, which were used to acquire, renovate
and expand the school campus located at 20 Seaborne Drive, Dover, NH;
(ii) finance the cost of acquiring certain capital assets, and (ii1) pay
certain costs associated with the issuance of the Bonds.

(2) The operation of the Facilities will create and preserve employment
opportunities directly and indirectly within the State of New Hampshire
(the "State").
(b) General Findings:

(1)  The Projects (as defined in Exhibit A hereto) and the proposed refinancing
thereof are feasible;



2) The Academy has the skills and financial resources necessary to operate
the Facilities successfully;

3) The Loan and Security Agreement (the “Agreement”) contains provisions
so that under no circumstances will the Authority be obligated directly or
indirectly to pay Project costs, debt service or expenses of operation,
maintenance and upkeep of the Facilities except from proceeds of the
Bonds or from funds received under the Agreement, exclusive of funds
received thereunder by the Authority for its own use;

4 The Agreement does not purport to create any debt of the State with
respect to the Facilities, other than a special obligation of the Authority
acting on behalf of the State under the Act; and

(5) The proposed refinancing of the Projects by the Authority and the
operation and use of the Facilities will serve one or more needs and
implement one or more purposes set forth in RSA 162-1:1, will preserve
or increase the social or economic prosperity of the State and one or more
of its political subdivisions, and will promote the general welfare of the
State's citizens.

Section 2. Determination and Recommendation. The Authority finds that the proposed
refinancing, operation and use of the Facilities will serve a public use and provide a public
benefit and determines that the Authority's refinancing of the Projects will be within the policy
of, and the authority conferred by, the Act. The Authority recommends to Her Excellency the
Governor and The Honorable Council that they make findings and a determination similar to
those set forth above, and for that purpose the Executive Director is directed to transmit to the
Governor and Council copies of this resolution, the materials received by the Authority with
respect to the Projects and any other documentation and information the Governor and Council
may request.

Section 3. Authorization of the Agreement. The Authority shall be a party to the
Agreement, and the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer and Executive Director are each
authorized to execute and deliver the Agreement on behalf of the Authority substantially in the
form presented to this meeting, but subject to such changes as the person so signing may
approve, his or her signature being conclusive identification of the documents as the Agreement
(with approved changes, if any) authorized by this resolution.

Section 4. Authorization and Sale of the Bonds. The Authority shall issue the Bonds in
one or more series in the aggregate amount of up to $9,440,000 as provided in the Agreement;
the Chairman, or the Vice Chairman, or the Treasurer, and any other member of the Board or the
Executive Director, are authorized to execute the Bonds by either manual or facsimile signature;
and the sale of the Bonds to the Bank at the price of par is hereby authorized and approved.




Section 5.Actions Not to Be Taken Until After Approval by Governor and Council. The
actions authorized by Sections 3 and 4 above (meaning specifically the execution of the
Agreement and the issuance of the Bonds), shall not be taken until such time as the Governor and
Council have made the findings and determination required by Section 9 of the Act, it being the
intent of the Authority that the various actions on its behalf which are authorized above are
subject to the action of the Governor and Council as required by the Act.

Section 6.Bond Proceeds. The proceeds of the Bonds shall be deposited and expended in
accordance with the Agreement, and checks, if any, for such Bond proceeds may be
appropriately endorsed by the Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer or the Executive Director.

Section 7. Approval of Projects. The establishment of the Projects, all in accordance with
the provisions of the Agreement, has been approved for the purposes of, and to the extent
required by, the Act.

Section 8.Other Actions by Officers. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer and the
Executive Director are each authorized to take all other actions and execute, deliver or receive
such instruments or certificates as they determine are necessary on behalf of the Authority in
connection with the transactions authorized by the preceding sections of this resolution, but
subject in all events to Sections hereof Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, such
officers may execute and deliver: receipts; financing statement forms under the U.C.C;
certificates as to facts, estimates and circumstances; information returns for governmental bond
issues for the purposes of federal income taxes; and certificates as to proceedings taken,
incumbency of officers or any other facts for any other purposes.

Section 9. Discharge of Lien. The Chairman, Vice Chairman, Treasurer or Executive
Director, whenever requested by the owners of the Bonds may join in the release and final
discharge of the lien of the Agreement.

Section 10. Authorization of Change of Dates. Without limiting any other discretion
conferred in this resolution, the date of the Agreement and the date the Bonds are executed may
be any date or dates acceptable to the Academy, the Bank and the officers of the Authority
executing such Agreement and the Bonds.

Section 11. Effective Date. This resolution shall take effect upon its passage.

Passed: August 19, 2013. ﬂ

Attest:~ /ﬂ/LV /

%ck Donovan, Clerk




SUMMARY OF REQUIRED STATUTORY FINDINGS OF THE
GOVERNOR AND COUNCIL UNDER RSA 162-1

The material appearing in quotations below are extracts from RSA 162-1:9. Dots indicate
deleted provisions relating to matters which are not relevant to this transaction.

Special Findings

“(1) For any project, the Governor and Council shall specify the type of facility and shall
find that the project to be financed is within the definition of the (type of facility) and may be
financed under this chapter;”

The project consists of (A) refinancing the $9,615,000 outstanding principal amount of
New Hampshire Health and Education Facilities Authority Revenue Bonds, Portsmouth
Christian Academy Issue, Series 2002 (“Series 2002 Bonds”), the proceeds of which were used
to: (1) refinance certain of the Academy’s then-existing debt, then outstanding in the
approximate principal amount of $4,165,000, the proceeds of which were used to finance (a) the
purchase of the real property located at 1 Seaborne Drive, Dover, New Hampshire consisting of
45 acres of land and an approximately 64,000 square foot building located thereon, (b) the
furnishing, fixturing and renovation of the aforementioned 64,000 square foot building, and (c)
the construction of a gymnasium addition to the aforementioned building containing
approximately 8,000 square feet; (2) finance the construction of a new high school building
containing approximately 22,000 square feet containing primarily of academic classrooms
(approximately $2,000,000); (3) finance the construction of a new high school academic support
building containing approximately 20,000 square feet containing science laboratories, art and
music facilities, classrooms, a multi-purpose room and library (approximately $1,750,000); (4)
construct a gymnasium annex containing approximately 6,000 square feet to provide additional
space for indoor athletics, physical education and assembly (approximately $500,000); (5)
finance miscellaneous renovations and capital equipment acquisitions during the three years
following issuance of the Series 2002 Bonds; (6) finance capitalized interest with respect to a
portion of the Series 2002 Bonds and a debt service reserve fund; and (7) pay certain costs of
issuing the Series 2002 Bonds including credit enhancement with respect thereto; (B) financing
miscellaneous construction, renovation, furnishing and equipping of the Academy’s educational
facilities; and (C) paying costs of issuance with respect to the Bonds.

The Project is within the definition of “commercial facility” in the Act and may be
financed under the Act; and



“(2) If the facility is a commercial facility, the governor and council shall find that the
establishment and operation of the facility will either create or preserve employment
opportunities directly or indirectly within the state and will likely be of general benefit to the
community as a whole;”

The Borrower expects the project to enable it to preserve existing jobs and to create a
general benefit to the community as a whole by providing educational options (Form BFA-1
under Tab #3). The information from the New Hampshire Employment Security, Economic and
Labor Market Information Bureau (Tab #6) shows that there is unemployment in the Dover area.

General Findings

“For any project, the Governor and Council shall find that:
(1) The project and proposed financing of the project are feasible;”

Bank of New Hampshire has agreed to purchase the bonds (Tab #6). The application of
the Borrower, including financial statements, also supports the finding (Tab #3).

“(2) The proposed user has the skills and financial resources necessary to operate the
facility successfully;”

The Materials relating to the Borrower under Tab #3 support this finding.

“(3) the financing and security documents contain provisions so that under no
circumstances will the authority be obligated directly or indirectly to pay project costs, debt
service or expenses of operation, maintenance and upkeep of the facility except from bond
proceeds or from funds received under the financing or security documents, exclusive of funds
received under the documents by the authority for its own use;”

The LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”) (Tab #4) is a combined
financing and security document. Section 4.01 of the Agreement contains an express statement
to the effect required; Section 2.05 of the Agreement obligates the Borrower to pay all debt
service on the Bonds when due; and Section 7.04 and Section 7.05 require the Borrower to pay
taxes and costs of operation, maintenance and upkeep.



“(4) Neither the financing document nor the security document purports to create any
debt of the state with respect to the facility, other than a special obligation of the authority acting
on behalf of the state under this chapter; and”

Express language to this effect is found in the Agreement under Tab #4 in Section 4.01.

“(5) The proposed financing of the project by the authority and the proposed operation
and use of the facility will serve one or more needs and implement one or more purposes set
forth in RSA 162-1:1, will preserve or increase social or economic prosperity of the state and one
or more of its political subdivisions, and will promote the general welfare of the state’s citizens.”

This finding can be based on all the materials as well as facts which are matters of
general knowledge.

Ultimate Finding and Determination Required by the
First Paragraph of RSA 162-1:9

“... the proposed financing, operation and use of the facility will serve a public use and
provide a public benefit and ... the authority’s financing of the project will be within the policy
of, and the authority conferred by, this chapter.”

The materials and information furnished and the preliminary findings described above
support, and enable the making of, the ultimate finding and determination.



